Electrical Stimulation of Rhabdomyosarcoma Cells Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Autophagy

Egor Avrutin

# A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUTE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

Graduate Program in Kinesiology and Health Science York University Toronto, Ontario, Canada October 2014

© Egor Avrutin, 2014

## Abstract

Rhabdomyosarcoma is a family of rare juvenile cancers that express molecular factors implicated in myogenic differentiation. Cell cycle arrest is absolutely necessary for muscle maturation, while abnormal cell cycle and cell death programs are hallmarks of cancer onset and progression. The cancerous rhabdomyosarcoma cells continue to uncontrollably proliferate in part due to deficiencies in the myogenic program. Electrical stimulation is known to alter the phenotype of myogenic cells, such changes include cell cycle arrest and enhanced myoblast differentiation. Since rhabdomyosarcoma tumors are muscle-like this thesis looks at the use electrical stimulation towards these cells in an attempt to induce differentiation and prevent growth. The results indicate that the response elicited in rhabdomyosarcoma cells following electrical stimulation is different from the one observed in myoblasts, however cell cycle arrest and cell death through autophagy contribute to a large reduction in the number of cells, which represents a potential therapeutic approach.

## Acknowledgements

I want to thank a number of people who contributed to this work and some who also positively influenced my overall student experience at York University. A great deal of thanks goes to Dr. Mike Connor for providing me with an opportunity to partake in this research project which started back in my undergraduate studies and continued as a master's degree, I am grateful for his guidance and constant support whether it is pertaining to research or academics. My time at the Connor Lab was an educational and rewarding experience and it was great to work alongside the fellow graduate students Chris Theriau and Beshoy Nazeer, I would like to thank them for all their help and also recognize their contribution to this project.

I would like to acknowledge the contribution and collaboration of Dr. John McDermott and his students Mathew Dionyssiou and Saviz Ehyai. Also I want to thank Dr. Tara Haas for her input as part of the supervisory committee, and Dr. Michael Scheid for his involvement in the thesis examining process. Thanks to Dr. David Hood for the autophagy antibodies used in this work as well as the vast impact on my academic experience during graduate studies.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures	vi
List of Abbreviations	vii

## Review of Literature:

1.	Mammalian Cell Cycle	1
	1.1 G <sub>1</sub> /S Transition	4
	1.2 G <sub>2</sub> /M Transition	6
	1.3 Cell Cycle Checkpoints	7
2.	Programmed Cell Death Pathways	10
	2.1 Apoptosis	10
	2.2 Autophagy	14
3.	Myogenesis	17
	3.1 Cell cycle in Myogenesis	21
	3.2 Regulation of Myogenesis	23
	3.3 Electrical Stimulation of Muscle Cells	26
4.	Cancer	27
5.	Rhabdomyosarcoma	29

6.	Hypotheses	37	

7.	Manuscript	38
	7.1 Abstract	39
	7.2 Introduction	40
	7.3 Materials and Methods	43
	7.4 Results	45
	7.5 Discussion	50
	7.6 Figure Legends	54
	7.7 Figures	56
	7.8 Supplemental Figures	61
8.	Conclusions	66
9.	Limitations and Future Directions	69
Aŗ	ppendix A: Glycogen synthase kinase $3\beta$ represses MYOGENIN function in alveolar	
rha	abdomyosarcoma	72
Re	ferences	83

# List of Figures

## Review of Literature

Figure 1. Stages of the cell cycle	2
<b>Figure 2.</b> Regulation of the G <sub>1</sub> /S transition	5
Figure 3. The apoptosis pathway	13
Figure 4. The autophagy pathway	16
Figure 5. Satellite cells in muscle regeneration	21

# Manuscript

Figure 1. Pictures and FACS of electrically stimulated and control RD cells	56
Figure 2. Pictures and FACS of electrically stimulated and control Rh-30 cells	57
Figure 3. AMPK, p27 and Cyclin E protein content measurements	58
Figure 4. Markers of autophagy	59
Figure 5. Akt and myogenic markers	60
Figure S1. p27 <sup>T198</sup> protein content in RD cells	61
Figure S2. Total LC3 protein content	62
Figure S3. Rh-30 cells following electrical stimulation in conjunction of an Akt inhibitor	r 63
Figure S4. COXIV protein content	64

Figure S5. Electrically stimulated and control PC3 cells	65

# List of Abbreviations

ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AIF	Apoptosis inducing factor
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPK	AMP activated protein kinase
APC	Anaphase promoting complex
aRMS	Alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATR	ATM and rad3 related
BH3	Bcl homology 3
bHLH	basic helix-loop-helix
САК	CDK activating kinase
САМК	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase
cdc	Cell division cycle
CDK	Cyclin dependent kinase
CKI	Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor
COXIV	Cytochrome oxidase subunit IV
CTL	Control
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSB	Double strand break

ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase
eRMS	Embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma
ES	Electrical stimulation
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
Fkhr	Forkhead
$G_0$	Gap 0 phase
$G_1$	Gap 1 phase
$G_2$	Gap 2 phase
GSK	Glycogen synthase kinase
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGFR	Insulin-like growth factor receptor
INK	Inhibitor of CDK4
LFS	Li-fraumeni syndrome
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
М	Mitosis
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MCK	Muscle creatine kinase
MEF	Myocyte enhancer factor

MEK	Mitogen/extracellular signal-regulated kinase
MOMP	Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
MRF	Myogenic regulatory factor
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mtPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore
Myf	Myogenic factor
NFAT	Nuclear factor of activated T-cells
PAX	Paired box
PDGFR	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PI	Propidium iodide
PI3k	Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase
РКВ	Protein kinase B
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride
R point	Restriction point
Rb	Retinoblastoma
RMS	Rhabdomyosarcoma
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
S	Synthesis phase
SAC	Spindle assembly checkpoint
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate

- SEM Standard error of the mean
- Shh Sonic hedgehog
- ssDNA Single stranded DNA
- STM Stimulated
- $TGF\beta$  Transforming growth factor beta

### **Review of Literature**

### 1. Mammalian Cell Cycle

During cell division the cell goes through a series of distinct and tightly regulated stages during which it replicates its DNA and then divides into two identical daughter cells (reviewed in (1)). Upon entering the cell cycle either following the completion of the previous round of division or from a quiescent state termed  $G_0$ , cells enter into the gap 1 ( $G_1$ ) stage where they integrate all the extrinsic and intrinsic inputs and ready themselves for transition into S (synthesis) phase. Once in S phase, the cell initiates the replication of all chromosomal DNA. With two copies of the original DNA content the cell then enters the gap 2 ( $G_2$ ) phase where it ensures integrity of the genetic material and chromosomes, and prepares for Mitosis.  $G_1$ , S and  $G_2$  together are referred to as interphase. M phase, or Mitosis, is the final step in the process. This is when the cell partitions the chromosomes and undergoes cytokinesis, dividing all cellular contents into two new identical daughter cells (1)(See Figure 1).

Progression through the cell cycle is controlled by a family of proteins known as cyclindependent kinases (CDKs) (reviewed in (2)). CDK activity is reliant on their interaction with a class of proteins referred to as cyclins. A number of cyclin/CDK complexes regulate the various stages of the cell cycle, each playing a specific role. CDK4/CDK6 complexes regulate the G<sub>1</sub> stage, while CDK2 and its cyclins are responsible for G<sub>1</sub>/S transition and S phase (2). CDK1 activity is actuated throughout the G<sub>2</sub> phase and regulates the initiation of Mitosis (2). CDK7 is thought to participate in the activation of the other cyclin/CDK complexes (2). Knock-out studies of the cyclins, and their corresponding CDKs, indicate that the remaining proteins are often able to compensate for the missing ones (3). Reports claim that in most cases CDK1 is sufficient for the full completion of the cell cycle when all other interphase CDKs are absent (4). CDK1, as well as Cyclin A2 and B1, appear to be indispensable for the cell cycle process (4).



Figure 1. The cell cycle consists of 4 stages: G1, S, G2, and M. The transitions from one stage to the other are regulated by the cyclin/CDK complexes. INK4 and CIP/KIP proteins inhibit the cyclin/CDK complexes to allow strict control of cell cycle progress. Modified from Donovan J, Slingerland J. Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  and breast cancer: Cell cycle arrest by transforming growth factor- $\beta$  and its disruption in cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2000;2(2):116-24.

Throughout the cell cycle CDK protein levels tend to remain relatively constant. Thus, the major forms for their regulation are protein-protein interaction and post-translational modifications (5). A number of mechanisms are responsible for the control of CDK activation. One of these is the binding of the cyclin proteins to the appropriate CDK. Cyclin protein levels oscillate throughout the cell cycle, and their interaction with the CDKs is required for the activity of the complex (5). The changes in the protein levels of the cyclins are dependent upon the balance between synthesis and ubiquitin mediated proteolysis (5). Cyclin D expression is induced during  $G_1$  downstream of mitogenic signals. As cells near the  $G_1$ /S transition cyclin E expression is activated by E2F transcription factors (3). Cyclin A is synthesized as cells are replicating their DNA material and it regulates the exit from S phase (3). In the  $G_2$  phase, Cyclin A is degraded while Cyclin B is synthesized, the latter is responsible for the transition into mitosis. Prior to anaphase the Cyclin B is degraded by the anaphase promoting complex (APC) which allows the daughter cells to split (2). Cyclin protein levels and activities of the CDK complexes are subjects to strict and time dependent oscillations, which are necessary to prevent an aberrant cell cycle. Excessive levels of cyclins and CDKs drive the oncogenic transformation observed in many cancers (6)(see Cancer section for further discussion).

Additional mechanisms that regulate CDK activation include a group of proteins, which consists of two families known together as CKIs (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors), which prevent the catalytic activity of the cyclin/CDK complexes through direct binding. The INK4 family of proteins inhibits specifically the CDK4/6 complexes, while the CIP/KIP proteins (p21, p27 and p57) inhibit most CDKs (5). Also, two phosphorylation sites also regulate the activity of the cyclin/CDK complexes. The kinase Wee1 phosphorylates the CDK protein near its amino terminus and this modification is inhibitory to the activity of the complex. The phosphatase Cdc25 removes this phosphate group, thus promoting CDK activity (5). Another phosphorylation required for the optimal activity of a cyclin/CDK complex is mediated by CDK activating kinase (CAK), which consists of CDK7 bound to Cyclin H (5). Altogether, these four mechanisms allow for precise regulation of progression through the cell cycle.

Cells integrate various internal and external cues in order to gauge their progress and readiness throughout the various stages of the cell cycle. Growth factors promote cell cycle entry, and when withdrawn lead to cell cycle arrest before the onset of S phase (1). Most of the cell cycle regulation during the  $G_1$  phase and  $G_1/S$  transition converges on Rb interaction with

E2Fs (7). E2Fs, a family of transcription factors, control many of the genes responsible for the replication of cellular DNA (8). Those transcription factors are bound and inhibited by the retinoblastoma protein (Rb), as well as Rb related proteins p107 and p130 (9). The interphase CDK complexes phosphorylate Rb at multiple residues, alleviating its inhibitory actions towards E2Fs (2). Once a cell begins the DNA replication process it is irreversibly committed to a round of replication and must complete the cell cycle to preserve its integrity. Errors in vital areas such as DNA replication and chromatin assembly among others will result in abrogation of the subsequent cell cycle steps, prompting damage repairs or cell death (10).

#### 1.1 G<sub>1</sub>/S Transition

The G<sub>1</sub> phase is driven by Cyclin D/CKD4/6 complexes, while G<sub>1</sub>/S transition is completed by Cyclin E/CDK2 (7)(See Figure 2). In somatic cells mitogenic signals are a major contributing factor to the increase in Cyclin D protein levels during the early G<sub>1</sub> phase (7). Increased transcription and inhibition of the degradation process lead to accumulation of Cyclin D which then binds CDK4 (7). Active CDK4 phosphorylates Rb, prompting the release and disinhibition of the E2F transcription factors (7). E2Fs in turn promote the expression of Cyclin E and other proteins necessary for S phase progression (8). The newly synthesized Cyclin E binds CDK2 which then phosphorylates Rb, in a positive feedback manner enhancing its own expression (7). During this phase the cell must ensure all essential factors required for a successful round of division are in place, these include adequate supply of nutrients and readiness of the intrinsic machinery required for DNA replication. Failure to do so will compromise the survival of the dividing cell. In order to proceed into S phase the Cyclin E/CDK2 complexes must overcome an inhibitory threshold imposed by the CIP/KIP proteins,



Figure 2. Regulation of the  $G_1/S$  transition. Mitogenic signals increase protein levels of Cyclin D which then binds and activates CDK4. The Cyclin D/CDK4 complexes phosphorylate Rb to cause the release and disinhibition of the E2F transcription factors. The newly synthesized Cyclin E once bound to CDK2 causes further phosphorylation of Rb, thus in a positive feedback manner enhancing its own expression. Cyclin E/CDK2 complexes are inhibited by p27 which must be degraded or sequestered to allow S phase entry. Modified from Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. CDK inhibitors: Positive and negative regulators of G 1-phase progression. Genes Dev. 1999;13(12):1501-12.

p27 amongst those (11). p27 actions are counteracted by numerous mechanisms. CDK2 itself phosphorylates p27 on threonine 187 promoting its ubiquitination and subsequent degradation. Serine 10 phosphorylation also leads to nuclear export and its cytoplasmic degradation (11, 12). Threonine 157 phosphorylation causes cytosolic retention, while phosphorylation on tyrosine 88 disrupts the ability of p27 to inhibit Cyclin E/CDK2 (11). Unlike Cyclin E/CDK2, p27 binding to Cyclin D/CDK4/6 positively regulates the activity of the complex (7). This interaction helps sequester the protein away from Cyclin E/CDK2 complexes, thus alleviating the inhibitory effects of p27 (7). If the mitogenic input is withdrawn Cyclin D expression is reduced and INK4 activity is upregulated, Cyclin D/CDK4 complexes no longer titrate the CIP/KIP proteins and this in turn limits Cyclin E/CDK2 activation (7). Ultimately, once the cyclin/CDK complexes overcome the inhibition by the CKIs and hyper-phosphorylate Rb, the E2F factors are free to express their target genes and initiate DNA synthesis. Throughout S phase, the ubiquitin ligase FBW7 tags Cyclin E for degradation, while Cyclin A levels accumulate. Cyclin A binds to CDK2 and promotes S phase exit once all the genetic material is properly replicated (2). The timing and complexity of molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the transition from  $G_1$  into S accentuates the importance of this stage in the decision to commit to a round of division and the proper completion of the process.

#### **1.2 G<sub>2</sub>/M Transition**

As cells enter the G<sub>2</sub> phase Cyclin A associates with CDK1. However, as cells near the G<sub>2</sub>/M transition Cyclin A is degraded and the newly synthesized Cyclin B binds with CDK1. When activated, the Cyclin B/CDK1 complex is reported to phosphorylate a large number of proteins that regulate various structural processes essential for mitosis (reviewed in (13)). These events include nuclear envelope breakdown, chromosome condensation, centrosome separation and spindle assembly (13). Additionally, Cyclin B/CDK1 complexes contribute to the activation of the ubiquitin ligase APC. In turn, APC signals for the degradation of the anaphase inhibitors securins as well as the cyclin proteins, a step required for the further progression through mitosis (13). In anaphase the sister-chromatids are held together by a protein complex known as cohesin. In order to allow the separation of the chromatids cohesin has to be cleaved by the protease separase. Securins inhibit separase and hence block further separation of the daughter cells, an effect alleviated once APC signals for the degradation of securins (13). Once the binding action

of cohesin is removed the sister-chromatids are pulled apart then the cell begins cytokinesis and eventually divides into daughter cells.

#### **1.3 Cell Cycle Checkpoints**

Maintaining the integrity of the genetic material during replication is crucial in preventing oncogenic transformation or ensuring the survival of a cell. A complex network of safeguard mechanisms termed checkpoints ensure orderly progression of the cell cycle, which includes successful completion of each stage prior to further progress as well as a response to DNA damage and an attempt to repair it (14). When activated by both extrinsic and intrinsic stimuli checkpoints can arrest the  $G_1/S$  or  $G_2/M$  transitions or prevent further progress during S or M phase (14). Extrinsic signals are primarily integrated in the  $G_1$  stage. Early work identified a point termed R (restriction) point in the cell cycle past which the division process seems to proceed independently of further outside influence. Once past R point the cells are committed to a round of replication. Conversely, when mitogens are withdrawn prior to the R point the cell will not initiate DNA synthesis (1). The cellular signalling cascades involved in the regulatory step ultimately converge on the opposing actions of Cyclin E and p27, which regulate the  $G_1/S$ transition (7).

Once into S phase the cells are committed to completing the cell cycle, and the intrinsic mechanisms are largely in place to prevent errors or damage and ensure the timely order of the stages. Possible culprits for checkpoint activation include DNA damage, replication fork disruptions and faulty chromatin assembly (15). Many stressors can damage the DNA helix, often culminating in either a double strand break (DSB) or exposed single stranded DNA (ssDNA) (15). The response to these events is initiated by two enzymes which once recruited to

the damaged site, initiate the signalling pathways that will ultimately attempt to repair the damage and delay further cell cycle progress. ATM (ataxia telangiectasia mutated) is shown to be active in the presence of DSB, while ATR (ATM and rad3 related) is recruited in the presence of ssDNA (15). ATM and ATR will in turn activate various mediators that participate in the repair process, also they will trigger a signalling sequence that involves CHK1 and CHK2 (15). CHK1 is reported to inhibit cdc25 activation and thus limit CDK activation, namely the Cyclin E/CDK2 and Cyclin B/CDK1 complexes during the G<sub>1</sub>/S and G<sub>2</sub>/M transitions respectively (15). CHK2 is an activator of p53, a transcription factor whose target gene products mediate DNA damage response including the CDK inhibitor p21 (15). p53 arrests growth and proliferation, contributes to DNA repair and induces cell death pathways in response to genomic damage (16). The activity of p53 is central in preventing oncogenic transformation, it is one of the most frequently mutated genes in cancers which allows those malignant cells to evade checkpoint mediated regulation (16, 17).

During S phase the cells perform extensive DNA synthesis, where possible aberrations besides the aforementioned DNA damage can occur, including a stalled replication fork. Once again an ATM/ATR regulated response will help preserve the integrity of the stalled replication forks, the initiation or firing of new ones, and as discussed above repair any genomic damage, thus attempting to recover DNA replication all while delaying further cell cycle progression (15). While in mitosis, the spindle assembly checkpoint (SAC) will arrest compromised cells prior to anaphase. As the name implies SAC ensures correct spindle assembly which in turn mediates proper chromosome segregation (18). SAC pathway proteins form the mitotic checkpoint complex which binds and inhibits cdc20, an activator of the APC/C complex, thus preventing the degradation of Cyclin B and securin and the subsequent progression through mitosis (18). This

highly regulated network of checkpoints is essential for proper cell cycle completion and the maintenance of cell integrity, and when this network is compromised severe malignancies can arise (see Cancer section).

#### 2. Programmed Cell Death Pathways

Cell death pathways are a set of evolutionary conserved mechanisms implicated in a range of functions in multicellular organisms such as development, tissue patterning, and homeostasis by regulating the removal of unwanted cells (19). Cell death pathways were originally classified based on the apparent cellular morphological features, but research has elucidated the biochemical properties that characterize the underlying molecular events (19). When deregulated, cell death pathways help shape disorders such as developmental defects, degenerative disorders and cancer (19). Apoptosis and autophagy are well-defined forms of programmed cell death which, unlike necrosis, are regulated via molecular signalling mechanisms influenced by both external and internal stimuli. In contrast necrosis is less ordered and occurs as a result of cellular edema and disruption of the plasma membrane (19). Even though apoptosis and autophagy are distinct molecular processes there exists a well-documented cross talk between the two pathways to ultimately render the cell capable of adequately responding to multiple stressors (20).

#### 2.1 Apoptosis

Apoptosis was first defined by DNA fragmentation, condensation of the nucleus and plasma membrane blebbing (21). These events were shown to be orchestrated by a family of proteases known as caspases which cleave many of the cell's proteins (21). However, now it appears that a number of related but caspase independent pathways also contribute to this form of cell death (22, 23). Apoptosis is primarily induced via one of two pathways, an extrinsically triggered sequence and an intrinsic response actuated by the mitochondria (24, 25)(See Figure 3). The caspase proteins can be subdivided into two groups commonly referred to as response

initiators and effectors. They are synthesized as the procaspase form and possess little catalytic ability, cleavage of the inactive zymogen detaches the inhibitory pro domain and activates the enzymatic properties (25). Caspase-8 initiates the extrinsic apoptosis pathway. It is activated following ligand binding to death receptors which then induces the downstream apoptotic signalling (25). The intrinsic stimuli converge on mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP). Mitochondrial proteins cytochrome c and Apaf-1, once released into the cytoplasm, form a complex together with procaspase-9. This complex, often referred to as the apoptosome, helps cleave caspase-9 and initiate the execution of apoptosis (25). Both caspase-8 and -9 are initiator caspases and once they are activated by the upstream stimuli they initiate the caspase cascade and cleave the apoptotic effectors. The effector caspases in turn are responsible for mediating the apoptotic events, this group includes caspase-3, -6 and -7. Among their targets are caspase activated DNases which fragment DNA, nuclear laminins and other cytoskeletal proteins (21).

The mitochondrion is an organelle responsible for the majority of cellular ATP production in oxygen rich environments. Disruption of this mitochondrial function could lead to cell death independent of apoptotic signalling (26, 27). However, mitochondria are also central to the integration of intrinsic apoptotic stimuli (26, 27). MOMP and the consequent release of certain mitochondrial contents into the cytoplasm is considered a point of no return in programmed cell death. While many events have the capacity to contribute leading up to this stage, the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mtPTP) is an event that will lead to organelle swelling, loss of membrane potential and eventually rupture of the outer membrane. mtPTP opening could be triggered by stimuli such as excessive amount of intracellular calcium or reactive oxygen species (ROS) (26, 27). The Bcl-2 family of proteins are

also crucial regulators of MOMP. These proteins are divided into two groups as either pro or anti-apoptotic. The Bax and Bak proteins oligomerize to form a pore in the outer mitochondrial membrane which would cause permeabilization (26, 27). This interaction is prevented via competitive binding with the anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family such as Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, and MCL1. Other apoptosis promoting proteins, known as Bcl-2 homology 3 – only (BH3-only) proteins, are unable to form channels in the mitochondrial outer membrane, however they bind and sequester the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 factors thus preventing them from inhibiting Bax or Bak (26, 27). This sort of interrelation between the various types of Bcl-2 proteins allows for the integration of multiple stimuli to help regulate tissue homeostasis through apoptosis. DNA damage and errors during the cell cycle progression will lead to p53 activation (see Cell Cycle section), which will in turn increase gene transcription of the pro-apoptotic Bax as well as the BH3-only PUMA and NOXA (28). This response is critical for the maintenance of DNA integrity or the prevention of oncogenic transformations as damaged cells are removed by undergoing cell death. Growth factor abundance is a strong survival signal, it negatively regulates programmed cell death trough Bcl-2 proteins. Downstream of growth factors binding to their respective receptors the Akt pathway is activated. Akt phosphorylates and inhibits BAD, a BH3-only factor, such post translational modification prevents the sequestration of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins and promotes survival (29, 30). Malfunctions of the p53 mediated DNA damage response and growth factor influenced PI3K/Akt pathways often contribute to tumorigenesis, as the organism loses the capability to remove these unwanted damaged cells which promotes the spread of the disease.

As mentioned earlier a number of contributing factors also participate in programmed cell death, some interact with the elements of the caspase cascade while others act independently. A



Caspase-independent apoptosis

Caspase-dependent apoptosis

Figure 3. The molecular regulation of caspase-dependent and independent apoptosis. The intrinsic apoptosis pathway influences the permeabilization of the outer mitochondrial membrane. The consequent release of mitochondrial contents into the cytoplasm mediates both caspase-dependent and independent apoptotic responses. Ligand binding to the death receptor initiates the extrinsic pathway. Recruitment and cleavage of caspase-8 causes the downstream activation of effector caspases.

family of proteins known together as inhibitors of apoptosis (IAPs) prevent caspase activation. Smac/Diablo factors are released into the cytoplasm following MOMP and inhibit IAP activity, thus enhancing the apoptotic program (22). AIF (apoptosis inducing factor) and endonuclease G also translocate from the mitochondria into the nucleus where they help degrade DNA (22). The relative importance of each individual component is subject to debate. It has been demonstrated that apoptotic cell death is possible in the absence of caspase actions, even though these event are morphologically different (22, 23). Interestingly while deactivation of apoptotic effectors leads to a shift in the phenotype of apoptotic cell death, knock-out of both Bax and Bak renders cells apoptosis deficient and results in a switch to autophagy (20).

#### 2.2 Autophagy

Autophagy is another form of programmed cell death that is generally initiated in response to nutrient starvation and involves the lysosomal degradation of cytoplasmic contents (31). Unlike apoptotic cell death autophagy at first is an attempt by the cell to recycle its contents when facing an energy deficit or cytotoxic stress. However, when excessive it results in cell death (32). Autophagy is a multistep pathway which involves a series of complex interactions between proteins encoded by the Atg genes (31, 33)(See Figure 4). These proteins guide the nucleation and maturation of the autophagosome, a double membrane vacuole which will enclose cellular contents destined to be degraded. Energy sensing pathways play a central role in the regulation of autophagy, with the antagonistic actions of AMPK and mTOR central in the control of the pathway induction (31, 33). Once upstream stimuli are activated the Atg6 (Beclin-1 in mammalian cells) complex initiates vesicle nucleation and autophagosome formation (33). LC3 (also known as Atg8 in yeast) is activated through two protein conjugation systems and it completes autophagosome formation (33). This is followed by the fusion of the autophagosome with the lysosome and the degradation of the cargo it contains (31, 33). Autophagic cell death is primarily characterized by profuse engulfment of cytoplasmic portions (31, 33).

The dynamic molecular mechanism of autophagy is increasingly more often implicated in states of health and disease. Upstream signals converge on the complex ULK1/2 the mammalian ortholog of Atg1 forms with multiple cofactors. This complex then phosphorylates components of the Beclin-1 complex to initiate the formation of the autophagosome (33). ULK1/2 and its

cofactors interact with mTOR which inhibits the initiation of autophagy. AMPK is activated in response to a high AMP/ATP ratio, it both inhibits mTOR and independently activates ULK1/2 (33). The initial stages of autophagosome formation are mediated by the Beclin-1 complex. This step is influenced through numerous mechanisms which include transcriptional control, post translational modifications, and protein-protein interactions (33). Interestingly, Beclin-1 interacts with Bcl-2 as it has a BH3 binding domain, which serves as a point of cross-talk with the apoptotic pathways. This interaction is inhibitory and is alleviated during cellular stress conditions (33). The activation of LC3 is critical during the vesicle elongation and autophagosome maturation (33, 34). It is achieved through two interrelated systems that resemble ubiquitin-like conjugation. Briefly, Atg12 is covalently linked to Atg5, they then form a complex with Atg16. In turn, this complex will catalyze the conjugation of LC3 with phophotidylethanolamine (PE). This lipidation step converts the soluble LC3-I form into a membrane associated LC3-II state. Leading up to this step LC3 has to first be cleaved by Atg4 then processed by the E1-like enzyme Atg7 and E2-like Atg3. Once the autophagosome is formed it will fuse with a lysosome to degrade its contents (33). The progress or flow of the autophagic pathway can be influenced in a number of different ways. Decreased upstream initiation will downregulate the flow through pathways, however reduced lysosome fusion will lead to accumulation of autophagosome intermediates. Deficiencies related to Atg genes also can impair the removal of unwanted cellular contents (31). Thus, unlike apoptosis where MOMP is a critical turning point, autophagy flux is somewhat difficult to discern.



Figure 4. The regulation of autophagy. The autophagy pathways consist of a number of distinct stages. The progress from one stage to the next (black dashed arrows) is regulated by the Atg proteins. AMPK and mTOR are cellular energy and nutrient sensing kinases that regulate the induction of autophagy through the ULK1 complexes. Beclin 1 complexes contribute to vesicle nucleation, while LC3 regulates the autophagosome formation step.

## 3. Myogenesis

The skeletal musculature is a dynamic and highly regulated tissue that plays a pivotal role in mammalian functions. Muscle is generated by a series of complex events during embryonic development, and it also has the capacity to regenerate and restructure itself postnatally. Muscle cells originate in the somites, which are epithelial spheres formed from the paraxial mesoderm during the early stages of embryonic development (35). The dorsal region of the somites will then develop and form the dermomyotome which will be the source for most cells of the myogenic lineage (35). The dermomyotome is further subdivided into epaxial and hypaxial regions, which eventually form the myotome that will develop into trunk musculature (36). Other muscle progenitor cells will delaminate from the hypaxial dermomyotome and migrate to form the muscle of the limbs and the rest of the body core (36).

Muscle development at the molecular level is regulated by a family of proteins known as the myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) (reviewed in (37, 38)). The MRFs in turn are regulated by early myogenic determinants such as PAX 3 and 7 (37). Numerous studies outline distinct roles for the different MRFs and early myogenic factors as well as the hierarchy within the group. The first identified member of the MRF family, MyoD, was reported to have the capacity to convert fibroblasts and some other cell lineages into myoblasts (39). Myf5, another MRF, acts in a similar fashion (40). Mouse knock-out models with either of the genes missing appear to have relatively normal muscle development, with the other MRF compensating for the deficiency (41). Animals with both genes knocked out did not develop any skeletal muscle (41). The roles of Myf5 and MyoD within the developing embryo differ in a region specific pattern. While MyoD is the more prominent factor in muscles derived from the hypaxial region of the developing somite, Myf5 is important in the epaxial region (42). Myogenin is also capable of converting a variety of cell types into myogenic cells (43). Moreover, downregulation of Myogenin prevents the late stages of myoblast maturation and fusion into multinucleated myotubes (35). Embryos with a deleted Myogenin gene die immediately after birth and they display severe defects such as reduced muscle size and lack of multinucleated muscle fibres (43). The role of MRF4 is somewhat disputed. Initially the protein was thought to regulate the later stages of muscle development, however some evidence argues that it might participate in earlier events as well (38).

The actions of MRFs, or myogenesis in general, is further complicated by a number of additional levels of regulation. Those include transcriptional control of the myogenic regulators, post-translational modifications, chromatin remodelling, as well as protein-protein interaction (reviewed in (44)). The 4 MRFs are transcription factors that regulate the expression of genes required for myogenic development. They all contain a basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) domain which is essential for their function (45). The MRF proteins heterodimerize with ubiquitous nonmyogenic bHLH containing proteins such as E12 and E47, both products of the E2A gene, as well as a number of others, collectively termed E proteins. Once the heterodimer complex is active it binds to specific sites in the promoter regions of myogenic genes known as the E box (45). Proteins such as Id possess a HLH domain and are capable of binding to either MRFs or E proteins, however they do not activate gene transcription. Thus, the presence of such proteins dilutes the amount of MRFs and E proteins that would be available to associate with each other and activate muscle gene expression (45). The MRF/E protein heterodimer will further form a complex with other coactivators such as the histone acetyltransferaces p300 and PCAF. These complexes will then recruit the transcriptional machinery in addition to affecting chromatin remodelling (45). The Myocyte Enhancer Factor-2 (MEF2) family of MADS-box transcription

factors is another class of proteins that activate the expression of myogenic genes (reviewed in (46)). The MADS-box motif is required for DNA binding, while the MEF2 domain increases the DNA binding affinity and participates in protein-protein interactions (46). Although it is questionable if MEF2 proteins are capable of evoking myogenic determination on their own, their cooperation with the MRF proteins is well established. In fact, often the MEF2 and E box sites on the promoters of muscle specific genes are located in close proximity. MEF2 proteins physically interact with the bHLH regions of the MRFs and synergize in the activation of the myogenic program (46). MyoD and the other MRFs are also regulated at the post translational level through both phosphorylation and acetylation (45). Ultimately, this complex network of molecular mechanisms converges on MRF controlled gene expression to help shape the myogenic program which guides the development and maintenance of skeletal muscle tissue.

PAX3, and to some degree PAX7, are believed to act as key early myogenic regulators. It was demonstrated that PAX3 is able to activate the expression of both Myf5 and MyoD (47). Moreover, cells expressing PAX3 and/or PAX7 are a key contributor to all skeletal muscle. Knock out of both these genes results in arrest of muscle development (48). While promoting the early events of the myogenic program, PAX3 supresses the late stages, and it must be downregulated to allow myogenic cells to undergo terminal differentiation (49). PAX3 cooperates with and also regulates a number of factors that help promote the myogenic program. SIX transcription factors family and their cofactors EYA proteins participate in the activation of the MRFs (37). In addition, Msx1 helps ensure adequate expansion of the myogenic progenitors by inhibiting differentiation (37). The c-Met receptor and its ligand HGF (hepatocyte growth factor), as well as Lbx1 are required for proper migration of the myogenic cells to the limb regions of the developing embryo (37). Throughout the embryogenesis a number of secreted factors control the spatio-temporal patterns of skeletal muscle development. Shh, a factor released from the notochord, together with the Gli transcription factor promotes myogenesis through upregulating Myf5 expression (38). BMP (bone morphogenic protein) is antagonistic to the actions of Shh (35). Furthermore, Wnt factors are released from the neural tube and surface ectoderm and are also important regulators of myogenesis (38). Notch and its ligand Delta inhibit MyoD, while fibroblast growth factors (FGF) are also implicated in the regulation of MRFs (36). These morphogens collectively influence the myogenic program to control orderly tissue patterning in the developing organism.

Once functionally mature, muscle tissue still has the capability to regenerate and restructure following certain event such as injury or training (44). By and large, this response is mediated by a population of myogenic progenitor cells known as satellite cells (reviewed in (50)). Other muscle residing stem cells as well as bone-marrow derived stem cells also contribute to the regeneration process, albeit to a lesser degree (50). The satellite cells reside within the basal lamina which surrounds muscle fibres, and are mitotically quiescent during normal conditions (50). During the process of regeneration satellite cells re-enter the cell cycle, undergo multiple rounds of cell division, they then proceed to the differentiation step and fuse with the existing muscle fibres (44)(See Figure 5). Some of the daughter cells created during the proliferation stage do not differentiate and fuse, but rather revert back into the quiescent state to replenish the progenitor pool (50). Irradiation or treatment with drugs that prevent cell division debilitates muscle regeneration following injury (50). Once activated, satellite cells start expressing MRFs which control the myogenic program (44). Out of the four MRF family members, MyoD is reported as essential for proper myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle (51). PAX7 appears to play an important role in those cells, since animals with this gene

mutated display lack of satellite cells and reduced muscle size (52). A number of growth and inflammatory factors secreted in the muscle tissue appear to promote myogenesis, those include HGF, FGF, IGF and LIF (50). The TGF- $\beta$  family of proteins, which includes myostatin, inhibit the proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells (50). Similar to muscle formation in embryogenesis the execution of the separate events must be properly timed. The satellite cells must proliferate to adequately expand their population, while excessive or insufficient cell number will compromise tissue healing. Furthermore, following the initial proliferative stage the myogenic progenitor cells switch to differentiation then they must fuse with the damaged muscle fibres. This stage is also critical to skeletal muscle maintenance, while deficiencies often lead to degenerative conditions such as muscular dystrophy (50).



Figure 5. Stages of satellite cell recruitment and myogenic regulators. Quiescent satellite cells once activated begin to proliferate in order to expand the cell population. Differentiating satellite cells must first exit the cell cycle, once terminally differentiated these cells fuse into multinucleated myotubes or with existing muscle fibres. Satellite cell recruitment is regulated by PAX7 and the MRFs.

### 3.1 Cell cycle in Myogenesis

Regulation of the cell cycle is an essential part of the myogenic program (reviewed in

(53)). Muscle precursor cells must halt cellular replication to allow differentiation. During the

final stages of muscle cell maturation they will irreversibly exit the cell cycle and reach a state of terminal differentiation. Following that, myoblasts fuse with muscle fibres or form syncytial myotubes (53). These events are controlled by a complex regulatory network that involves MRFs and cell cycle regulators. Myf-5 and MyoD, the MRFs implicated in myogenic determination, undergo distinct cell cycle dependent regulation (54). Myf-5 protein levels are notable in G<sub>0</sub>, the quiescent state, and are downregulated as cells proceed through G<sub>1</sub>. Conversely, the MyoD protein is highly expressed during G<sub>1</sub> and its levels diminish as cells near the G<sub>1</sub>/S transition (54). Knock-out studies revealed that Myf-5 deficient cells undergo premature differentiation, which is accompanied by higher than normal myogenin gene expression together with other late muscle specific markers (55). Furthermore, MyoD-null cells fail to proceed in their myogenic program (55). Induction of MyoD expression is known to act as a potent inhibitor of cell proliferation (56). In fact, myogenic stem cells lacking MyoD continue proliferating but fail to undergo further development (51). Inefficient MyoD activity is an underlining characteristic of rhabdomyosarcomas which are characterized by over-proliferation (57).

Since cell cycle arrest is necessary for muscle differentiation, conditions that boost replication also prevent muscle gene expression. Either overexpression of E2F1 (58), or knockout of its inhibitor Rb (59) abolish the differentiation of myoblasts. Moreover, as myogenic cells progress towards terminal differentiation E2F expression is downregulated (58). Also, Rb protein levels are increased through direct transcriptional activation by MyoD (60). Hence, regulators of the Rb/E2F axis, such as CDKs and CKIs, inevitably have effects on the differentiation program in muscle progenitors. Most of the interphase CDKs and cyclins are reported to be downregulated as cells stop proliferating and begin expressing muscle specific genes (53). p21 is a well characterized MyoD target gene and its expression is increased to allow terminal

differentiation independently of p53 signalling (61). Animals with p21 and p57 genes both knocked-out display severe muscle deficiencies (62). p27 is also expressed in the developing musculature and it enhances MyoD activity (63).

Besides regulating myogenic differentiation through the Rb/E2F pathway at the G<sub>1</sub>/S transition point, many of the cell cycle regulators are reported to also participate in regulation of MRF activities through protein-protein interactions and post-translational modifications. The Rb protein directly binds to MyoD and this interaction is reported to promote muscle cell commitment and differentiation (64). CDK4 binds to MyoD and prevents its DNA binding ability (65). Cyclin D is required for nuclear import of CDK4 where the interaction between the two proteins takes place (65). Conversely, CDK4 kinase activity is also inhibited when it is bound to MyoD (66). CDK1 and CDK2 where shown to phosphorylate MyoD on serine 200 and this post-translational modification inhibits its activity and promotes degradation (67). p57 acts to inhibit the CDK2 and CDK1 complexes and it is thought to also directly bind and stabilize MyoD (68). The reciprocal interaction of MyoD with positive cell cycle regulators and its cooperation with cell cycle inhibitors highlights the vital role this MRF plays in the transition from proliferation to myogenic differentiation. These interactions also help elucidate why muscle gene expression is normally absent during the proliferative stages.

#### 3.2 Regulation of Myogenesis

The effectors of myogenic and cell cycle processes are regulated through a number of signal transduction pathways. These signalling sequences integrate the various external stimuli and internal cues and comprise of a series of post-translation modifications often carried out by protein kinases. Amongst the most researched and established pathways implicated in the

myogenic process are the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) family (69) and the PI-3 Kinase (PI3K) (70) signalling cascades. Both of these pathways play a role in the proliferation and differentiation stages. Extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK), a member of the MAPK family, is a well characterized regulator of cell proliferation (reviewed in (71)). Following the binding of mitogenic factors to their respective receptors on the cell membrane Ras activation is triggered. Raf, a downstream target of Ras, is a kinase that activates MEK which consequentially phosphorylates ERK1 and ERK2 (71). ERK1/2 in turn promotes activation of Fos and Jun, both being components of AP-1 transcription factor, and induces Cyclin D gene expression (71). ERKs also stabilize the c-Myc factor which plays an important role in regulating cell cycle progression (71). Active MEK1 was shown to block the activity of the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex, potentially through direct protein-protein interaction (72). Fos and Jun are reported as inhibitors of transcriptional activation of myogenic genes by MyoD and Myogenin (73). In addition, c-Myc possesses a bHLH domain and was shown to repress MyoD initiated differentiation as well (74). The protein kinase Akt is thought to influence both proliferation and myogenic differentiation. The numerous targets downstream of Akt participate in various essential cellular functions, some of which were shown to have an impact on the state of myoblast cells. The PI3K/Akt pathway is activated following mitogenic stimulation, and it is thought to enhance the  $G_1/S$  cell cycle progression (75). Akt regulates p27 protein localization within the cell. Following phosphorylation of the T157 residue the CKI is then trapped in the cytoplasm, and thus unable to inhibit the nuclear CDK complexes (76). In addition, Akt is also a negative regulator of FOXO activity. The FOXO transcription factors are responsible for upregulating p27 gene expression (77), while reducing Cyclin D levels (78). GSK3 $\beta$  is inactivated by Akt which makes it unable to tag Cyclin D for degradation (79). The mTOR

complex, a well characterized Akt target is also a positive cell cycle regulator (80). Altogether, both ERK and Akt signalling pathways cooperate to promote  $G_1/S$  stage transition, hence promoting the proliferation and inhibiting the differentiation of myogenic progenitors. This step is responsible for the proper expansion of the muscle progenitor pool prior to differentiation and fusion.

Upon initiation of differentiation myoblasts exit the cell cycle and induce the activity of myogenic regulators. Those events are coordinated through the p38 MAPK and PI3K/Akt signal transduction pathways. Inhibition of either one results in abrogation of myogenic differentiation (81). p38 kinase activity increases over the course of differentiation and it promotes cell cycle exit and expression of late myogenic genes (82). PI3K/Akt signalling is thought to downregulate the MAPK/ERK pathways as myoblasts switch from proliferation to differentiation (83). Inhibition of ERK signalling normally accompanies muscle differentiation, while deactivation of this pathway promotes expression of myogenic genes (84). GSK3β is target of Akt directed inhibitory phosphorylation and it is reported that deactivation of GSK3 $\beta$  induces myogenic differentiation (85). Furthermore, Akt is an important mediator of cell survival. Inhibition of this enzyme in differentiating myoblasts is reported to impair survival (86). Calcium regulated signalling is another emerging regulator of myogenesis. Reduction of intracellular calcium levels attenuates the differentiation of myocytes (87). The Calcineurin/NFATc pathway is a potential mediator of calcium signalling with its upregulation promoting the expression of myogenic genes (88). Calcineurin is a calcium/calmodulin regulated phosphatase that removes a phosphate group from the NFATc transcription factors, which is essential for their nuclear localization (88). Interestingly, the actions of Calcineurin upon NFATc3 are antagonized by GSK3β, with inhibition of GSK3β overcoming the blockade of myogenic differentiation caused by Calcineurin

suppression (89). Furthermore another calcium regulated enzyme, Calcium/calmodulin dependent kinase (CaMK), is a major positive regulator of MEF2 DNA binding ability (90). The enzymes involved in the regulation of myogenesis could potentially be targeted by therapeutic interventions to alter the course of the muscle tissue maintenance.

#### **3.3 Electrical Stimulation of Muscle Cells**

The electrical stimulation model was originally developed to mimic the innervation of muscle tissue, to help study the effects of depolarization induced contractile activity (reviewed in (91)). It is known to evoke a wide range of cellular responses within the muscle fibres. However, it also promotes the activation of satellite cells and their fusion with those muscle fibres (91). In*vitro* use of electrical stimulation on myoblast cells, as well as differentiated myotubes, is a helpful tool in identifying specific signalling events involved in the various phenotypical changes observed with the use of this model (91, 92). Cell cycle arrest is one of the changes elicited by electrical stimulation in myoblasts (93). It is accompanied by increased protein levels of MyoD and markers of mitochondrial biogenesis, which points to the induction of myogenic differentiation (93). Those changes appear to be mediated through AMPK activity downstream of calcium signalling (93). AMPK is a well-known regulator of cellular energy balance and it is thought to inhibit proliferation during energy deficient states (94). Activated AMPK is reported to phosphorylate p27 on T198 and increase its protein stability (95). In fact, electrically stimulated myoblasts displayed higher  $p27^{T198}$  and total p27 protein levels, as well as an increased amount of cyclin E bound to p27. Moreover, these changes were attenuated following removal of intracellular calcium or AMPK inhibition (93).
#### 4. Cancer

Cancer is a disease characterized by progressive transformation of normal cells within an organism into malignant derivatives (96). Tumorigenesis in its essential form is fuelled by dynamic genomic changes that produce continuous and uncontrollable growth and expansion of malignant cancer cells (96). The majority of tumors are genetically unstable. As a result they accumulate mutations in oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, which promote the clonal expansion of those cells (97). Cancer cells acquire a number of capabilities that are essential to pathogenesis of the disease including self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth cues, ability to evade apoptosis, limitless replicative capacity, sustained angiogenesis, and the ability to metastasize and invade other tissues (96). Furthermore, the tumor mass can be characterized as an organ that contains a heterogeneous population of cells, which all contribute to the creation of a microenvironment that reinforces cancer development (98). Uncontrolled cell proliferation seen in cancer cells is caused through continuous deregulated entry and inability to exit the cell cycle (99). Many mechanisms that drive cancer progression converge on Rb/E2F axis and its regulation (100). Given the importance of Rb mediated repression of the cell cycle in normal cellular functions, it is not surprising that many of the regulators of this pathway are implicated in cancer. p27 deregulation and Cyclin D over-activation are common culprits of uncontrolled proliferation seen in a large number of cancers (101). In the big picture, the  $G_1$ stage of cell cycle is a period when a wide range of signals determine the fate of cell growth and proliferation. Deregulation within this stage and its many components plays a crucial role in the onset and progression of malignant growth (101). Underlying this deregulation are proliferation promoting pathways such as Ras/ERK and PI3K/Akt which are often hyper activated in cancerous cells (101). Healthy cells have built-in mechanisms that ensure the integrity of the

DNA before proceeding to further cell cycles phases. Progress will be halted and DNA repair initiated as a consequence of genomic damage and cell death pathways are often activated if those repairs fail (see above). Cancer cells are often defective in the control of these checkpoints leading to the inability to prevent progressive DNA damage and the resultant genomic instability characteristic to cancers (15). The dynamic nature of the disease in turn contributes to the progressive malignant transformation, making the identification of specific molecular culprits difficult.

#### 5. Rhabdomyosarcoma

Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) is a form of cancer where tumor cells have characteristics of myogenic heritage (reviewed in (102)). These cells initiate the myogenic program but fail to exit the cell cycle and do not undergo terminal differentiation (57). Unlike most tumors, rhabdomyosarcoma affects mostly children and adolescents. Pathologically, this cancer can be subdivided into 3 distinct variants. The embryonal form (eRMS) most often affects young children, it commonly arises in the head and neck, paraspinal region and the genitourinary system (103). The alveolar form (aRMS) mostly localizes to the extremities and axial musculature (102, 103). The third pleomorphic form affects the musculature of adults and is a rare event (102). A portion of the alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma tumors carry a well-defined genetic mutation, a chimeric gene is formed through fusion of 2 regions from separate chromosomes and it is thought to drive the malignancy (104, 105). A portion of a gene for the Forkhead (FKHR) family member FOXO1 located on the 13th chromosome translocates into the region encoding either PAX 3 on chromosome 2, or PAX7 on chromosome 1 (104). aRMS tumors negative for the fusion gene are clinically and molecularly indistinguishable from the eRMS forms (106). Furthermore, recently published outcomes of whole genome analyses of a large set of RMS samples demonstrate that based on molecular signatures all RMS tumors can be categorized into two groups, defined by the either presence or absence of the fusion gene (107). The variants of rhabdomyosarcoma have different prognostic fates. The PAX3/FOXO1 fusion positive tumors are associated with the least favourable outcome followed by PAX7/FOXO, while fusion negative aRMS and eRMS are statistically linked with a lesser risk of mortality (108). This risk stratification is important to identify and prioritize treatment strategies and research efforts. Despite continuous advances in our understanding of this disease severe cases

are still linked to high death rates and future research is essential for improvements to these outcomes.

The characterization of RMS cells as both cancerous and myogenic has led to extensive study of the molecular properties that produce such unique state. At the genomic level, there are identifiable abnormalities that contribute to the pathology of rhabdomyosarcoma. Even though aRMS is often associated with the distinct PAX/FOXO1 chromosomal translocation, eRMS tumors exhibit a common underlying genetic signature as well. Loss of heterozygosity on a specific locus on the 11th chromosome is a frequent characteristic of the rhabdomyosarcoma tumor genotype (109). This region contains a number of imprinted genes that could potentially act as drivers of the malignancy, those include H19, p57Kip2, IGF2 and a number of others (110). A familial germline mutation in the p53 gene, called Li-Fraumeni Syndrome (LFS), is often associated with increased incidence of pediatric cancers (111). A number of young RMS patients are reported to have this familial disorder, while some others exhibit de-novo p53 mutations (111). MyoD, an important regulator of muscle formation, is expressed in rhabdomyosarcoma cells but does not initiate terminal differentiation. It is reported that the MyoD protein is capable of binding to DNA, however its transcriptional activation abilities are deficient in both eRMS and aRMS (112). This evidence suggests that a factor required for the activation of MyoD activity is deficient in those cells (112). Indeed, forced dimerization of MyoD with E proteins promotes differentiation of RMS cells (113). Furthermore, MEF2D expression is reported to be downregulated in some RMS cases and exogenous reinstatement of this protein enhances myogenic differentiation and inhibits tumorigenicity (114). aRMS associated PAX/FOXO1 fusion proteins prevent MyoD transcriptional activity, though it appears that this mechanism is independent of the MyoD-E protein interaction (115). As discussed earlier

MyoD, is crucial for cell cycle exit and induction of differentiation in myogenic progenitors (see Myogenesis section). Hence, it is not surprising that RMS cell continue to proliferate uncontrollably and that it coincides with impaired MyoD mediated transcriptional activity. These deficiencies pose a challenge for therapeutic approaches that would target myogenic differentiation signalling to help induce cell cycle arrest in RMS cells.

Examination of the PAX/FOXO1 fusion gene properties has yielded a better understanding of the contribution of this chromosomal translocation to tumor development. The ability to activate transcription of target genes due to PAX DNA-binding domain interaction with specific promoters is more potent when fused with the transactivation domain of FOXO, compared to wild type (116). The expression of the PAX/FOXO gene itself is amplified in rhabdomyosarcoma which leads to accumulation of the protein (117). Moreover, the chimeric protein interferes with the activity of wild type PAX3 in developing muscle progenitors (118). When PAX3/FOXO is expressed ectopically in fibroblasts the cells acquire a number of tumorigenic characteristics (119), underlining the enhancement of proliferation and invasiveness of cancer cells (120). In contrast, downregulation of PAX3/FOXO protein expression promotes cell cycle arrest, induction of myogenic differentiation and also cell death in RMS cells (121, 122). Targeting the fusion gene product directly, through altering either the upstream regulators or downstream effectors could serve as a strategy for possible therapeutic interventions in this subtype of RMS tumors.

Despite the obvious muscle resemblance, research has yet to clearly establish which cells in the body give rise to RMS (reviewed in (123)). A portion of RMS tumors are located in and around the skeletal muscle, however some also develop where muscle tissue is generally absent. To accentuate the variability in the origin of RMS cells, tumors were shown to develop from

both committed myogenic progenitors as well as uncommitted mesodermal cells (123). These inconsistencies raise the question of whether RMS are in fact muscle cells that fail to differentiate or if they are cancer cells which acquire some myogenic properties. Primary tumor samples, *in-vitro* cell culture and *in-vivo* animal models of RMS help researches address this question and uncover the underlying molecular properties of these tumors. Commonly used cell lines are the eRMS RD line and the aRMS Rh30. The RD line was established from a biopsy from a refractory tumor in the pelvic region of a 7 year old female patient who has previously undergone chemotherapy and radiation therapy. This cell line is reported to carry a MYC amplification, as well as Ras and p53 mutations (124). The Rh30 line contains the PAX3/FOXO fusion gene and was established from a bone marrow metastasis sample from a previously untreated 16 year old male. These cells carry a heterozygous p53 mutation and amplification on the 12<sup>th</sup> chromosome in a region containing CDK4 (124). Neither cell line originated from a sample taken in a body area where skeletal muscle in generally found, however both clearly exhibit the myogenic signatures characteristic to RMS. The heterogeneous origins of RMS call for categorization that is based on the molecular properties rather than the localization of those tumors.

Interestingly, ectopic insertion of the PAX3/FOXO fusion gene under the wild type PAX3 promoter does not lead to tumorigenesis *in-vivo*. Rather, abnormalities in embryonic development similar to a PAX3 deficiency arise, which suggests that the PAX3/FOXO fusion gene negatively affects normal PAX3 function (125). However, as demonstrated by Keller et al., conditional PAX3/FOXO knock-in into differentiating muscle cells aided by INK4a/ARF and p53 loss of function led to aRMS development *in-vivo* (126). Hence, the fusion protein likely cooperates with a number of secondary mutations to produce a malignant *in-vivo* tumor (126,

127). According to whole genome scans, a portion of aRMS tumors carry common chromosomal amplifications and deletions that possibly alter the expression of cell cycle regulators. Also, fusion gene positive aRMS samples appear to undergo genetic mutagenesis to a lesser extent than the fusion gene negative or the eRMS subtype (107). Therefore, the molecular signature of the fusion gene positive aRMS tumors outside of presence of PAX/FOXO is not as clearly identifiable as in eRMS.

Sharp et al. in 2002 created an in-vivo eRMS model by overexpressing the HGF/SF (hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor) in INK4a/ARF knockout mice (128). INK4a is an inhibitor of CDK4 and is implicated in Rb regulation while ARF represses MDM2, a negative regulator of p53. HGF/SF is a ligand of c-Met, a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) which upon binding activates Ras signalling downstream (128). Amongst eRMS tumors cell cycle checkpoint regulation is often deficient and Rb mutations are a common example of that (57, 105, 129). A number of other studies show that some form of Ras pathway deregulation together with p53 deficiency will lead to RMS development *in-vivo* (130-133). Numerous RTK are implicated in eRMS tumorigenesis, these include FGFR, IGFR, PDGFR (134, 135). Mutations in Ras genes are also common in this malignancy (107, 133). In a separate study, Shh (sonic hedgehog) pathway deregulation in mice was shown to lead to eRMS development in a non-myogenic cell lineage (136). Ptch1 is a negative regulator of Shh and heterozygous deletion of this gene contributed to the transformation of myogenic progenitors into eRMS cells (129). Furthermore, in human samples hyper-activation of the Shh pathways is associated with a less favourable prognosis (137). Overall, examination of animal models as well as human samples identifies common patters in eRMS pathogenesis. Deregulation of the RTK/Ras pathway, deficiency in p53 signalling and hyper-activation of the Shh are drivers of fusion negative RMS development

and those are in turn aided by deregulation of Rb and possibly other cell cycle checkpoint pathways.

The Akt pathway is an intriguing target in RMS research as it plays a role in both cell proliferation and survival, as well as myogenic differentiation. Increasing Akt activity may promote pro myogenic events, which in turn could potentially lead to reduced tumorigenicity. However, inhibition of this pathway might help reduce proliferation and induce cell death in RMS cells. Dissecting the specific roles played by the targets of this kinase in RMS oncogenesis will likely help determine which option is best for therapeutic intervention. As discussed earlier, the PI3K/Akt pathway is a potent pro-survival mediator (see Programmed Cell Death Pathways section). Also, it was demonstrated that the mTOR complex inhibitor, rapamycin, prevents proliferation of RMS cells and induces p53-independent cell death (138). mTOR activity is positively regulated by Akt mediated phosphorylation (139) and recently emerging evidence shows GSK3 inhibition elicits favourable consequences in both the embryonal and alveolar RMS forms (140-142). Since Akt phosphorylates and inhibits GSK3 (139), increased Akt activity may result in desirable tumor inhibiting effects. The most captivating target of Akt in the RMS context is perhaps FOXO. FOXO1 is known to be mislocalized out of the nucleus following phosphorylation by Akt on 3 separate residues (143). However, despite the fact that 2 of those residues are present in the chimeric protein product of the PAX/FOXO1 gene, it is not responsive to Akt mediated regulation (143). This finding was challenged by Jothi et al. who showed that Akt does in fact modulate the activity of the fusion gene (144). Activation of Akt is reported to promote arrest of proliferation and cell death in aRMS cells (140, 145). Evidence helps argue that inhibition of Akt is in some aspects beneficial in lessening the oncogenic properties of RMS. In contrast, activation of this pathway is also shown to weaken the RMS phenotype. The relative

importance of Akt targets is hard to specifically identify as their activity encompasses such a broad range of cellular functions. Ultimately, in light of the conflicting outcomes to varying Akt activity in RMS cells, the roles of the individual Akt targets could be further investigated as opposed to the comprehensive function of the pathway.

The regulation of myogenesis, as previously discussed, is complex and involves a number of signalling pathways. Targeting some of those molecular mechanisms could potentially be beneficial in offsetting the RMS phenotype. Since muscle differentiation is coupled with cell cycle arrest, inhibition of signalling sequences involved in proliferation could potentially induce differentiation in RMS. For instance, Cyclin D/CDK4 complexes promote G<sub>1</sub> phase progression and inhibit MyoD activity, while pharmacological inhibition of the complex arrests proliferation in RMS cells (146). Also, both ERK and Akt signalling are well known mediators of myoblast proliferation (see Myogenic Signalling section). Studies show that concurrent inhibition of both MAPK/ERK and Akt/mTOR in RMS cells yields a synergetic interaction detrimental to the growth of these tumors, in comparison the inhibition of either pathway individually is rather inefficient (147, 148). Conversely, p38 signalling is critical to the myogenic differentiation process since it contributes to cell cycle arrest. Forced activation of p38 in rhabdomyosarcoma cells resulted in an increased expression of late myogenic genes that are usually absent in the malignant state (149). In support of this line of evidence, inhibition of Notch is reported to result in p38 activation and the consequent differentiation events (150), while Notch hyper-activation in RMS samples is shown to yield a more aggressive tumor phenotype (151). Despite the potential of pharmacologically targeting these pathways in experimental settings, the incorporation of such drugs into comprehensive patient treatment strategies is complicated. Issues such as toxicity, bioavailability, and targeted delivery all limit the possible applicability of

such therapies. Furthermore, RMS patients are often children who must still biologically develop and mature, drugs could also potentially interfere with this crucial aspect.

### 6. Hypotheses

My research will center around the use of the *in-vitro* electrical stimulation model on rhabdomyosarcoma cells. The ultimate goal of the project is to investigate whether the myogenic properties of those cancerous cells could be manipulated in a way similar to healthy myoblasts. The central tenet of my thesis is that electrical stimulation of rhabdomyosarcoma cells will elicit growth arrest and potentially promote myogenic differentiation. This could be further broken down into the following specific hypotheses:

1. Electrical stimulation of RMS cells will activate AMPK and induce cell cycle arrest, a response analogous to that seen in myoblasts.

2. Electrical stimulation will induce myogenic differentiation in RMS cells.

3. Electrical stimulation will affect Akt signalling in RMS cells as part of the induction of myogenic differentiation.

## 7. Manuscript

Electrical Stimulation of Rhabdomyosarcoma Cells Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Autophagy

Egor Avrutin<sup>1,2</sup> and Michael K. Connor<sup>1,2</sup>

From the <sup>1</sup>School of Kinesiology and Health Science and <sup>2</sup>Muscle Health Research Centre

York University

Toronto, Ontario, Canada

#### 7.1 Abstract

Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) is a soft tissue cancer that manifests in young patients and demonstrates muscle-like properties. Unlike muscle cells, RMS cells fail to undergo cell cycle arrest and terminal differentiation despite the presence of the necessary molecular regulators to do so. Electrical stimulation (ES) elicits a variety of phenotypical changes in skeletal muscle, and we set out to determine whether ES induces any effects in RMS cells. Both alveolar (Rh-30) and embryonal (RD) RMS cells were subjected to ES (5Hz, 5V) for 4 hours/day followed by a 20 hour rest period for 1-5 days. ES of RD and Rh-30 cells led to a reduction in the number of cells and an altered phenotype when compared to non-stimulated control (CTL) cells. FACS analyses revealed that ES induced an accumulation of RD and Rh-30 cells in the G<sub>2</sub>/M phase of the cell cycle. ES also increased the conversion of LC3-I into LC3-II which suggests an increase in autophagy. Furthermore, ES induced the phosphorylation of Akt/PKB on T308, important for cell survival and myogenic differentiation, while protein levels of MyoD and myogenin were also altered by ES in RMS cells. Thus, it appears that electrical stimulation of rhabdomyosarcoma cells leads to cell cycle arrest and cell death, which potentially provides the basis for the development of a novel disease therapy.

#### 7.2. Introduction

Rhabdomyosarcomas (RMS) are a family of juvenile soft-tissue cancers that express many of the molecular factors that regulate muscle maturation (103, 152). RMS tumors are subcategorized with two main forms being embryonal (eRMS) and alveolar (aRMS)(152). RMS origins are highly heterogeneous, eRMS often affects young children and presents in the head and neck, the paraspinal region and the genitourinary system. In contrast, aRMS tumors mostly localize to the extremities and axial musculature and generally develop in adolescents (103, 152). A portion of aRMS tumors carry a chromosomal fusion between genes encoding either PAX3 or PAX7 and the Forkhead family member FOXO1. The resultant chimeric PAX/FOXO protein is a potent transcription factor which is thought to induce the aRMS malignant phenotype (57, 104, 152). Fusion gene positive aRMS are associated with the high mortality rates, while fusion gene negative aRMS are indistinguishable from eRMS (106, 108, 152). Activating alterations in receptor tyrosine kinases and ras signalling pathways as well as dysfunctions in developmental patterning pathways and cell cycle regulation are all evident in RMS patients (57, 107). This vast range of oncogenic properties makes identification of a singular molecular therapeutic intervention in RMS patients extremely difficult.

Maintenance of multinucleated skeletal muscle mass is assisted by muscle derived stem cells, termed satellite cells (50). Following nuclear degeneration or muscle damage, quiescent satellite cells first proliferate to increase their numbers and subsequently undergo differentiation and fusion by inducing the expression of myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs) (37, 50, 153). MRFs heterodimerize with E proteins to activate the transcription of myogenic genes (45). One of these MRF, MyoD, is indispensable for proper myogenic stem cell function (51). MyoD increases p21 expression to promote cell cycle exit in myoblasts (53, 61). The importance of

MyoD in muscle regeneration is illustrated by rendering satellite cells differentiation incompetent in MyoD<sup>-/-</sup> mice or *in-vitro* (51, 55). Unlike other cancers, RMS cells express MRFs and many other genes unique to myogenic progenitor cells, however unlike myoblasts they fail terminally differentiate due to lack of MyoD transcriptional activity (112, 113). What remains unclear is whether RMS originates from myogenic cells with a disrupted differentiation program, or if they are primarily tumor cells that somehow acquire muscle-like characteristics. Regardless of the reason, these myogenic properties may allow for the induction of cell cycle exit and terminal differentiation in RMS cells.

Electrical stimulation (ES) is an effective method whereby to induce a wide range of phenotypical changes in excitable cells including skeletal muscle and neuronal cells in-vivo and in cell culture (91, 92). Earlier findings from our lab demonstrate that when electrically stimulated myoblasts exit the cell cycle due to the activation of AMPK and the subsequent direct phosphorylation of the CDK2 inhibitor p27<sup>KIP1</sup> on T198, leading to its accumulation in the cell. This increase in p27 protein levels caused cell cycle arrest and differentiation of the myoblasts in culture (93). Based on these results we electrically stimulated eRMS and aRMS cells to evaluate whether ES of those cells will activate the myogenic program and induce cell cycle exit and differentiation. We show that stimulation of eRMS and aRMS cell leads to a drastic reduction in cell numbers. In response to ES there appears to be no activation of pathways that induce G<sub>1</sub> arrest in these cell types, suggesting an involvement of alternative mechanism. In agreement with this FACS analyses revealed an accumulation of RMS cells in G<sub>2</sub>/M and an enhancement in the activation of LC3 a critical regulator of autophagy. These effects are accompanied by an increase in Akt activity as protein levels of the T308 phosphorylated form are elevated in both RMS cell lines in response to ES. Overall, our findings suggest that electrical stimulation reduces

proliferation and induces autophagy in RMS cells and may provide a novel therapeutic avenue for disease intervention.

#### 7.3. Materials and Methods

*Cell Culture.* RD (eRMS) and Rh-30 (aRMS) cells were a generous gift from Dr. John McDermott (York University, Toronto, Ontario) and were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, in high glucose Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, Wisent, St.Bruno, Quebec), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 2% antibiotic-antimycotic solution (Wisent). The media was replenished every 48 hours.

*Electrical stimulation.* Cells were plated onto 0.1% gelatin coated 6 well plates. Cells that were stimulated for a longer duration were plated at a higher density to account for cell loss. The lids of the plates were fitted with two parallel platinum wire electrodes, placed at the opposite ends of each well and extending into the media. The wires from all wells were arranged in parallel and connected to an electrical stimulator (Harvard Apparatus Canada, Saint-Laurent, Quebec, Canada). Cells were stimulated at 5V and a frequency of 5Hz for 4 hours/day with alternating potential followed by a 20 hour recovery period for 1 to 5 days. Cells were harvested following the recovery period throughout the protocol in 0.2% TENT buffer (TRIS, EDTA, NaCl and 0.2% Triton x-100) supplemented with phosphatase inhibitor (phosSTOP, Roche Diagnostics, Laval, Quebec) and protease inhibitor (Sigma, Oakville, Ontario). Samples were then sonicated and centrifuged (16,100x g), the supernatants were collected and stored at -84°C for subsequent analyses.

*Western Blot.* Protein concentrations in the samples were determined using the Bradford assay (Bio-rad, Mississauga, Ontario). 25µg of each sample was loaded onto a 12% polyacrylamide-SDS gel, separated via electrophoresis and transferred onto a PVDF (Bio-rad). Following blocking in 10% skim milk, membranes were incubated overnight with primary antibodies for pAkt<sup>T308</sup> (1:500), Akt (1:2000), pAMPK<sup>T172</sup> (1:1000), AMPK (1:1000), ,

pGSK3 $\beta^{S9}$  (1:1000), GSK3 $\beta$  (1:1000)(Cell Signaling, Whitby, Ontario); p27<sup>T198</sup> (1:1000) (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN); p27(1:2000)(BD Biosciences, Mississauga, Ontario); Cyclin E (1:2000), COX IV (1:5000), Myogenin (1:500),  $\beta$ -Actin (1:50000)(Abcam, Cambridge, MA); MyoD (1:500)(Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX). Subsequently, membranes were probed with appropriate HRP linked secondary antibodies (1:5000) (Promega, Madison, WI). Protein expression was measured using enhanced chemiluminescence reagent (Millipore, Whitby, Ontario) the emitted signal was detected using a Kodak In vivo FX Pro and quantified with Carestream molecular imaging software (Marketlink Scientific, Burlington, Ontario).

*Cell Cycle Analyses.* To determine the cell cycle profiles of RD and Rh30 cells they were collected by trypsination, washed twice in cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS), then fixed by dropwise addition of ice cold 70% ethanol and stored at -20°C for further analyses. Prior to sorting, cells were incubated overnight in a staining solution containing PBS, 1 µg/mL propidium iodide (PI, Bioshop, Burlington, Ontario) and 0.5µg/mL RNase (Sigma). DNA content was measured using Gallios<sup>TM</sup> flow cytometer (Beckman Instruments, Mississauga, Ontario) and cell cycle profiles were determined using ModFit LT 4.0 software (Verity Software House, Topsham, ME).

Statistical Analysis. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software. Two-way ANOVAs were used to assess the effects of ES and time on protein content. Following the correction of protein levels in stimulated cells to reflect variation in control conditions one-way ANOVAs followed by Tukey's post-hoc tests were used to identify differences between individual time points. Changes were considered statistically significant when p < 0.05 (n=3-5/group).

#### 7.4. Results

ES of RD eRMS cells over 5 days resulted in a drastic decrease in cell numbers when compared to non-stimulated same day control (CTL) cells. This was accompanied by substantially altered cell morphology. ES cells appear larger in size and exhibited a more elongated shape after 5 days (Fig. 1*A*). Cell cycle analysis revealed that ES of RD cells causes a statistically significant decrease in the proportion of cells in the  $G_0/G_1$  population and an accumulation during the  $G_2/M$  when compared to CTL cells. While the amount of cells in S phase remained unchanged. After 5 days of ES the  $G_2/M$  population of RD cells increased by  $30.6\% \pm 8.25$ , correspondingly the percentage of cells in  $G_0/G_1$  decreased by  $11.5\% \pm 4.7$  (Fig 1B, *C*). This alteration in the cell cycle profiles of ES RD cells is observed as early as day 1, the first time point, and last throughout the protocol.

Despite featuring a different molecular etiology than RD cells, aRMS Rh-30 cells exhibit a similar response to ES. On day 4 there are clear distinctions evident with respect to cell numbers in ES cells compared to CTL, these Rh-30 cells appear enlarged or detached despite the use of gelatin coated culture plates which enhance adhesion (Fig 2*A*). FACS of Rh-30 cell identifies possibly a presence of two distinct populations of cells (Fig 2*B*). aRMS tumors have been shown to often harbour recurrent amplifications or deletion of chromosomal regions (107), this could potentially yield the observed shift in the cell cycle profile in a portion of Rh-30 cells. Nevertheless, this unusual appearance of FACS outcomes prevented precise cell cycle profile determination. Yet, when the number of cells in regions corresponding to the  $G_0/G_1$  and  $G_2/M$  in each of the populations was estimated a shift from  $G_0/G_1$  to  $G_2/M$  following ES in clearly identifiable (Fig 2*B*, *C*). An observation consistent with the results obtained for RD cells. After 4 days of ES one population of cells displays an 80.3%  $\pm$  40.05 (p = 0.1) increase in G<sub>2</sub>/M proportion, while the second changed by 64.0%  $\pm$  15.23 (p<0.05).

RMS cells do not arrest in the G<sub>1</sub> cell cycle stage following ES. Electrical stimulation of C2C12 myoblasts was previously shown to increase the expression of CDK inhibitor protein p27 and p21 in a AMPK dependent mechanism (93). p27 restricts the activity of Cyclin E/CDK2 complexes at the G<sub>1</sub>/S transition which leads to cell cycle arrest and induction of the myogenic differentiation program. Unlike the results observed in C2C12 myoblasts, ES does not activate AMPK in RD cells as indicated by the phosphorylation levels at T172. pAMPKT<sup>172</sup> levels are decreased in stimulated cells as early as day 1 and remain reduced throughout the protocol (Fig 3A). Phosphorylation of p27 on T198 increases protein stability and contributes to growth arrest and autophagy (95). Moreover, the energy sensor AMPK was shown to directly phosphorylate p27 on T198 (95). Electrical stimulation of skeletal myoblasts was previously shown to activate AMPK and increase the levels of both  $p27^{T198}$  and consequentially total p27 protein (93). In RD cells p27<sup>T198</sup> protein levels on day 1, 2 and 3 while not significantly lower compared to day 0 are decreased relative to the value observed on day 5 (Fig S1). Total p27 protein expression is decreased in ES RD cells on day 1, however there is variations observed in the levels of this protein in the following days possibly implicating other regulatory mechanism. This demonstrated that pAMPK, p27, and  $p27^{T198}$  are affected differently by electrical stimulation in RD cells when compared to C2C12. Cyclin E was used as another indicator of the  $G_1/S$ transition. ES induced a statistical change in Cyclin E levels over time yet no differences were observed between individual days (Fig 3A). Unlike in RD cells, ES activates AMPK in Rh-30 cells with pAMPK<sup>T172</sup> levels were determined to be  $1.92 \pm 0.51$  fold above control after 4 days

(Fig 3*B*). The protein levels of p27 were not altered in Rh-30 cells. Similarly, there were no ESinduced changed in Cyclin E levels in these aRMS cells (Fig 3*B*).

Given the decrease in the number of RMS cells after ES we wished to evaluate whether this reduction is a result of programmed cell death pathways. FACS analyses showed no indication of cells undergoing DNA fragmentation, as evidenced by the lack of a sub-G<sub>1</sub> population (Fig 1*A*, 2*A*). To assess the effects of ES on autophagy we measured protein levels of two members of the pathways. LC3 is an important regulator of autophagosome maturation. The activation of LC3 is critical to the autophagic pathway and it is achieved via the conversion of the cytosolic LC3-I into the lipidated, membrane bound LC3-II form. Five days of ES of RD cells induced a  $2.72 \pm 0.37$  fold increase in the levels of LC3-II as a fraction of total protein content above those in non-stimulated controls (Fig 4*A*), while in Rh-30 cells the value on day 4 is  $2.29 \pm 0.18$  relative to day 0 (Fig 4*B*). Total LC3 protein levels were also measured following electrical stimulation. Similar to the outcomes observed for the fraction of activated LC3-II, total protein levels increase significantly by day 4 in Rh-30 cells (Fig S2*B*) and appear to accumulate in RD cells (n=2) (Fig S2*A*). Beclin-1 protein content did not statistically vary between the conditions in either cell line.

Akt activation is enhanced in electrically stimulated RMS cells. In RD cells, ES elucidated a  $2.21 \pm 0.25$  fold increase in the abundance of active pAkt<sup>T308</sup> (Fig 5*A*). Similarly, ES of Rh-30 cells induced a  $3.00 \pm 1.60$  fold increase in pAkt<sup>T308</sup> above those levels in CTL cells (Fig. 5*B*). Akt plays a role on proliferation and survival but also in myogenic differentiation, and the significance of the observed activation of this kinase in ES cells is yet to be fully clarified. To further investigate the influence of Akt in RMS cells we used a pharmacological inhibitor of Akt activation in conjunction with electrical stimulation. It is evident that Akt inhibition further

enhanced cell loss following electrical stimulation in Rh-30 cells (Fig S3). However, it is not yet clear what the molecular implications of that are. This result puts forth a notion that despite the positive outcomes of enhancing the ability of RMS cells to undergo myogenic differentiation, it might instead be more advantageous to strengthen the cell death response induced by electrical stimulation in the Rh-30 cells.

Since RMS tumor cells express MRFs, we measured MyoD and myogenin protein levels in RD and Rh-30 cells in order to evaluate the myogenic changes in these cells following ES. Myogenin protein levels were drastically decreased in both RD and Rh-30 cells as early as day 1 and remained supressed for the duration of the protocol. By the final day myogenin content decreased  $38\% \pm 12$  and  $71\% \pm 7$  in RD and Rh-30 cells respectively relative to the value observed on day 0 (Fig 5*A*, *B*). The expression of the MyoD protein is increased  $1.67 \pm 0.28$  fold at day 5 of ES in RD and  $2.0 \pm 0.25$  fold on day 4 in Rh-30 cells (Fig 5*A*, *B*).

The mitochondrion is an organelle implicated in the maintenance of the cellular energy status and homeostasis, it is also an important mediator of apoptotic and autophagic pathways (27). Increased mitochondrial content in myoblasts is shown to parallel the differentiation progress (93). In tumorigenic conditions increasing the mitochondrial content potentially increases the likelihood these cancers cells would initiate apoptosis. The major function of this organelle network is to produce ATP within the cell it relies on aerobic mechanisms to do so. Aggressive tumors are often highly hypoxic, they are reliant on anaerobic glycolysis for ATP generation (154). In this light, increased mitochondrial content in RMS cells could indicate a shift from cancer promoting conditions to detrimental ones. COXIV (cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV) is an often used marker of overall mitochondrial content within a cell. COXIV protein levels were shown to increase in electrically stimulated myoblasts (93). In RMS cells

besides imposing cell cycle arrest, enhancing myogenic differentiation may also contribute to increasing the mitochondrial content as in myoblasts. However, since RMS cells are also cancerous increased mitochondrial content might contribute to cell death induction. Yet, electrical stimulation of RMS cells did not induce any changes in COXIV protein levels (Fig S4). This evidence further corroborates the notion that RMS cells do not behave as myoblasts when subjected to electrical stimulation.

Based on the results obtained following electrical stimulation of the myogenic rhabdomyosarcoma cells, which indicate that these cells respond differently from myoblasts, we tested the application of this protocol towards non-myogenic PC3 prostate cancer cells. After 5 days of electrical stimulation there is a drastic decrease in the number of prostate cancer cells (Fig S5). This result demonstrates that electrical stimulation does not necessarily relies on myogenic properties to induce phenotypical changes. Furthermore, this potentially opens an avenue to future applications of this intervention in other cancer types, not limited to the myogenic RMS cells.

#### 7.5. Discussion

Electrical stimulation induces rapid phenotypical changes in skeletal muscle that mimic those seen during adaptation to chronic contractile activity. While myoblasts undergo enhanced cell cycle arrest and differentiation in response to ES, we show that RMS cells respond differently. This challenges the notions that RMS is truly myogenic in nature. Despite this, ES of RMS cells did drastically reduce the number of these cells which is a positive outcome. These cells respond in a way distinct from myoblasts but do show signs of arrested proliferation and enhanced cell death. This raises the possibility that other non-myogenic cancer cells may respond likewise to electrical stimulation.

ES induces distinct and rapid cell cycle responses in RMS cells with an apparent shift of the population from  $G_0/G_1$  to  $G_2/M$ . This could be due to a specific arrest of cells in  $G_2/M$  prior to undergoing autophagy and consistent with the lack of  $G_1/S$  arrest. The observed arrest could be due to a number of factors including lack of Cyclin B/CDK1 induction, insufficient Anaphase Promoting Complex activity, or deficiencies in the separation of the sister chromatids in mitosis (13). Further experiments are required to evaluate the exact nature of this ES-dependent effect. Nonetheless, ES is likely to restrict the progress through the cell cycle and help inhibit proliferation and induce autophagy, both of these processes contribute to the observed reduction in cell numbers. It was previously demonstrated that electromagnetic forces are able to disrupt the separation of the sister chromatids during mitosis and cause cell cycle arrest and cell death in various cancer cells (155, 156). We show similar effects of ES on RMS cells with further evidence of autophagy activation which leads to cell death. Akt is necessary for cell cycle progression through the  $G_2/M$  into the following  $G_1$  stage, also kinase activity is enhanced during this step and when it was inhibited cell death was prevalent (139, 157, 158). We show that ES promotes Akt activation, as indicated by measuring pAkt<sup>T308</sup> levels. In contrast, the G<sub>2</sub>/M progression is inhibited. The reasons for this are unclear, but Akt kinase activity may not be actually increased in despite the raised levels of pAkt<sup>T308</sup> in ES RMS cells. Ultimately, the increase in pAkt<sup>T308</sup> may in fact be a response of the cell to prevent the ES-dependent effects towards autophagy induction, as Akt mediates the activation of mTOR complex which in turn inhibits autophagy (33, 139). Further work needs to be conducted to establish the specific effects of Akt activation in RMS cells following ES.

Deficiencies in the apoptotic pathway and DNA damage response are common in tumors (15, 96). p53 is a critical mediator of DNA damage response and is mutated in both RD and Rh-30 cells (124). This may explain the observed lack of apoptosis in electrically stimulated RMS. We show that despite p53 deficiencies ES activated autophagy, giving RMS cells an alternative mechanism to induce cell death which represents an attractive target for therapeutic intervention (20, 159). Lipidation of LC3 is often used to evaluate the autophagy pathway, as it is an event critical to the maturation of the autophagosome (31, 34). The autophagosome in turn fuses with a lysosome to degrade the cytoplasmic cargo it contains, while excessive degradation of cellular components leads to cell death (31, 33). Leading up to the conversion of LC3-I into LC3-II, the Beclin 1 complexes must be activated (33). Beclin 1 insufficiency contributes to the development of some cancers (160), yet it is also extensively regulated at the protein level through posttranscriptional modification as well as protein-protein interactions (33). Also, Beclin 1 contains a BH3-only domain and the activity of this protein is inhibited through the binding of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 factors (33). This mechanism may permit Akt mediated intervention in Beclin 1 activation. Akt phosphorylates and inhibits the pro-apoptotic BAD factor which binds and sequesters the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein, thus preventing it's the downstream effects (29, 139).

This may explain why we observed ES-induced changes in LC3 yet no effects on Beclin 1. With Akt being activated in response to ES in RMS cells, this may have prevented the induction of Beclin 1 with no inhibitory effects on LC3. This allowed cell death to proceed as indicated by the observed decrease in RMS cell numbers following ES. This result may also suggest the LC3 plays a more critical role in autophagy activation than Beclin 1.

The expression of factors essential for myogenesis is a well-documented feature of RMS, yet the contribution of the myogenic regulators to the manifestation of this cancer type remains undefined. The MRF myogenin regulates the expression of genes necessary for the late stages of differentiation and myoblast fusion (44). RMS tumors express myogenin, however its transcriptional activity was shown to be inhibited in PAX3/FOXO positive cells as a results of a direct phosphorylation by GSK3β (140). ES-induced activation of Akt inhibits GSK3β, alleviating its suppressive effects on myogenin and consequentially increasing its transcriptional activity, and decreasing proliferation in aRMS Rh-30 cells (140). Furthermore, PAX3 transcriptional activity is known to inhibit differentiation in myoblast (49, 57). Given that aRMS cells express a constitutively active chimeric protein this may also be occurring in aRMS cells. The FOXO protein is phosphorylated by Akt which leads to its inactivation by translocation out of the nucleus (143). The regulatory domain of FOXO is part of the PAX/FOXO chimeric protein and was initially thought to be unresponsive to Akt-dependent regulation because it only possesses 2 out of the 3 phosphorylation sites (143). However, it was recently demonstrated that Akt does in fact modulate the activity of PAX/FOXO (144, 145), since ES promotes Akt activation in Rh-30 cells it might serve as a potential therapeutic intervention (144, 145). As opposed to Akt mediated inhibition of cell death pathways which would enhance survival, ES

mediated effects towards myogenin and PAX/FOXO in aRMS cells further prevent proliferation and invasiveness.

Given our results it appears that ES of RMS represents a potential novel therapy. ES induces  $G_2/M$  arrest which is accompanied by cell death via autophagy. Concomitant activation of Akt further reduces the proliferation of Rh-30 cells by inhibiting GSK3 $\beta$  which represses myogenin transcriptional activity. Moreover, ES may only affect proliferating cells as shown with the application of electric fields (155, 156), making unwanted side effects minimal.

#### 7.6. Figure Legends

**Figure 1.** Electrical stimulation of RD cells induces cell cycle changes. Stimulation (ES) of RD cells over 5 days progressively decreased cell numbers, altered cell morphology (*A*) and caused an accumulation of cells in the  $G_2/M$  phase of the cell cycle (*B*) compared to non-stimulated control (CTL) RD cells. (*C*) Graphical summary of the percentages of cells in each phase of the cell cycle in response to 1, 3 and 5 days of ES. All values are mean  $\pm$  S.E.M.; \*p<0.05 compared to same day CTL (n=4).

**Figure 2.** Electrical stimulation of Rh-30 cells induces cell cycle changes. Following 2 or 4 days of electrical stimulation (ES) Rh-30 cells display decreased cell numbers and altered cell morphology compared to non-stimulated control (CTL) cells (*A*). FACS profiles of Rh-30 cells indicate a shift towards  $G_2/M$  in response to ES (*B*, *C*). All values are mean  $\pm$  S.E.M.; \*p<0.05 compared to same day CTL (n=3-5).

**Figure 3.** Electrical stimulation affects AMPK, p27 and Cyclin E in RMS cells. Electrical stimulation (ES) decreases pAMPK<sup>T172</sup> protein levels in RD cells while concomitantly decreasing p27 and increasing Cyclin E protein levels (*A*). ES increased pAMPK<sup>T172</sup> protein levels in Rh-30 cells but no ES induced changes in protein levels of p27 and Cyclin E were observed (*B*). β-actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are mean ± S.E.M.; \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0; \*\*p<0.05 main effect of one-way AVOVA (n=5).

**Figure 4.** Electrical stimulation activates autophagy in RMS cells. ES leads to conversion of LC3-I (upper arrow) into the active LC3-II (lower arrow) in both RD (*A*) and Rh-30 (*B*) cells. Protein levels of Beclin 1, another autophagy mediator, remained unchanged by ES (*A*, *B*).  $\beta$ -actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified

relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0 (n=3-5).

**Figure 5.** Electrical stimulation of RMS cells activates Akt and affects myogenic regulatory factors. ES activates Akt (pAkt<sup>T308</sup>) in RD cells (*A*). In addition ES decreased myogenin and increased MyoD in RD cells (*A*). Similar responses to ES were observed in Rh-30 cells (*B*).  $\beta$ -actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0 (n=3-5).

## 7.7. Figures

## Figure 1



# Figure 2









ō

2 3 4

Days of ES









B







S

### 7.8. Supplemental Figures



Figure S1.  $p27^{T198}$  is a direct phosphorylation target of pAMPK, following this posttranscriptional modification protein stability is increased.  $\beta$ -actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0, #p<0.05 compared to days 1, 2, and 3, n=5.



Figure S2. Total LC3 protein levels in electrically stimulated RD (**A**) and Rh 30 (**B**) cells.  $\beta$ -actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0, n=2 in RD and n=4 in Rh-30 cells.


Figure S3. Rh-30 cells following 4 days of electrical stimulation or control condition with and without pharmacological Akt inhibition. Cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M of 1L6-Hydroxymethyl-chiro-inositol-2-(R)-2-O-methyl-3-O-octadecyl-*sn*-glycerocarbonate a commercially available, specific inhibitor of Akt activation. The drug prevents binding of the Akt protein to its upstream activator via competitive interaction. Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was used as vehicle control. The drugs were replenished every 48 hours, prior to the stimulation.



Figure S4. COXIV was measured to help reflect on the changes in the mitochondrial content in electrically stimulated cells.  $\beta$ -actin was used to correct for protein loading. Proteins in stimulated cells (S) were quantified relative to those in non-stimulated control (C) cells. All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*p<0.05 compared to Day 0, n=5 in RD (A) and n=3 in Rh-30 (B) cells.

# Control

# Stimulated



Figure S5. PC3 cells, a non-myogenic prostate cancer cell line, following 5 days of electrical stimulation or control conditions.

### 8. Conclusions

The nature of RMS tumors as both oncogenic and myogenic offers a unique opportunity to capitalize on the knowledge of muscle biology and apply it in a cancer context. Cancer is a disease that most often presents itself in the aged population and is frequently classified on the basis of the tissue it originates from. RMS tumors are statistically rare and they manifest themselves during childhood and adolescence and in a variety of locations. However, at the molecular level most cancers, including RMS, exhibit some common set of molecular determinants which shape the malignancy. Unlike other cancer forms RMS tumors express a range of factors implicated in the myogenic differentiation program. While, myogenesis is a popular research field and numerous approaches exist to intervene in the molecular mechanisms which regulate this process, few are applied to RMS. The differentiation program is deficient in RMS cells and the potential of therapeutic strategies aimed towards myogenic regulators is questionable. In this thesis the use of the electrical stimulation on RMS cells was evaluated, as previously it was shown to induce cell cycle arrest and differentiation in myoblasts.

Electrical stimulation induces arrest of proliferation and cell death in both subtypes of RMS, it also leads to obvious morphological changes. However, the alterations observed in RMS cells following electrical stimulation are unlike the ones observed in myoblasts. In myoblasts electrical stimulation induces cell cycle arrest likely at the  $G_1/S$  transition mediated by an increase in p27 protein levels and decrease in Cyclin E. In RMS cells such changes were not induced by electrical stimulation, and in agreement cell cycle profiling indicated no build up in  $G_1/S$  but instead there was an accumulation of cells in the  $G_2/M$  phase. It is unclear at this point which molecular mechanisms mediate this cell cycle alteration, nor whether the cells arrest at the  $G_2/M$  transition or during M phase.

Programmed cell death pathways can be initiated in response to cell damage and repair must take place in a timely manner to ensure survival. This fact is utilized in many cancer therapies as the induction of massive DNA damage in tumors can lead to induction of cell death pathways and destruction of tumor cells. However, the regulators of cell death pathways are often deficient in cancers. p53 is an important regulators of cellular responses to stress and it is often mutated in RMS, including RD and Rh-30 cell lines. Both apoptosis and autophagy were evaluated in electrically stimulated RMS cells as these cell death modes could potentially contribute to the cell loss elicited by electrical stimulation. At this point it is unclear if cell cycle precedes cell death in electrically stimulated RMS cells. The  $G_2/M$  accumulation was observed at the earliest time point of electrical stimulation in both cell lines studied, yet signs of apoptotic cell death were not detected. However, the autophagy pathways protein LC3 was activated by day 4 in both RD and Rh-30 cells. Nevertheless, both cell cycle arrest and cell death are implicated in the apparent decrease in RMS cell numbers following electrical stimulation.

The Akt pathway fulfills a diverse range of roles important for cellular functions with some individual effects having conflicting implications in RMS cells. In cancer cells excessive Akt activation is often observed and it contributes to proliferation and evasion of cell death. Conversely, in myogenesis Akt is required for differentiation to take place. In an earlier study we report that myogenin transcriptional activity is prevented through the influence of GSK3β in PAX3/FOXO positive aRMS cells. Inhibition of GSK3β alleviated the suppression of myogenic gene expression and decreased both proliferation and survival of Rh-30 cells (140). We demonstrated that electrical stimulation induces Akt activity, inhibits GSK3β, and activates the expression of myogenin targets (140). Separately, Akt activity towards the PAX/FOXO fusion gene was shown to inhibit growth and invasiveness while also inducing cell death in aRMS cells

67

(144, 145), a process likely rooted in the myogenic traits of these cells. In conventional tumor cells Akt signalling promotes proliferation and survival, however since RMS possess myogenic properties, Akt also mediates effects with contribute to enhanced differentiation, growth arrest and cell death. Thus, Akt actions in this myogenic context are in direct conflict with its pro survival function, and it is not clear which option is more advantageous in preventing the growth of RMS tumors if this kinase was to be targeted through a pharmacological approach. Electrical stimulation on the other hand likely acts through numerous mechanisms as changes in cell cycle, survival and myogenic status all take place in conjunction with Akt activation. The relative effectiveness of the contribution of Akt mediated changes in myogenic status to the overall phenotype observed in electrically stimulated Rh-30 cells is yet to be determined. However, preliminary evidence suggests that pharmacological inhibition of GSK3 was recently shown to lead to cell death in eRMS cells as well (141). However, neither GSK3 analyses nor Akt inhibition are have been completed in RD cells following electrical stimulation.

The fact the RD and Rh-30 cell do not exhibit a response comparable to the one observed previously in C2C12 myoblasts questions the merit of treating RMS cells as myogenic. However, the nature of the response and the fact it is unlike the one elicited in myoblasts puts forth an interesting possibility that other non-myogenic cancer cells could respond in a manner similar to RMS cells when subjected to electrical stimulation. To test this possibility we electrically stimulated a non-myogenic prostate cancer PC3 cell line and the preliminary evidence points to a decrease in the number of cells after 5 days of this treatment. Further experiments are required to elaborate on this line of evidence as it might carry significant implications on cancer therapeutic approaches.

68

#### 9. Limitations and Future Directions

Evidence obtained so far, taken together with the main hypotheses of this thesis, help identify a number of prospective areas that need to be further investigated. Other areas could also be addressed to help strengthen the validity of the collected data. *In-vitro* application of the electrical stimulation model proved promising but not without its out challenges. Ultimately while the outcomes observed *in-vitro* provide an exciting opportunity to investigate the molecular properties of RMS cells, the potential of electrical stimulation as a therapeutic intervention will depend of whether or not it can be successfully and effectively applied *in-vivo*. Moreover, in light of the results obtained to date it is important to test whether the effects electrical stimulation on RMS cells could also be consistently replicated in other non-myogenic cancer cell lines or if they are unique to RMS. It is also imperative to establish a baseline through the use of non-cancerous yet dividing cells, besides the aforementioned myoblasts.

Even though the loss of RMS cells following electrical stimulation is clear and both cell cycle arrest and cell death appear to be implicated, further experiments are required to strengthen our grasp of these events. Originally it was hypothesized that the  $G_1/S$  transition will be prevented following stimulation if the myogenic RMS cells behave similar to myoblasts, this was not the case. An immunoprecipitation of Cyclin E bound p27 in combination with p27 cellular localization assays would add to the strength of the conclusion that could be made about this cell cycle stage. FACS results strongly suggest a  $G_2/M$  accumulation of cells following stimulation, yet it is not clear what molecular mechanisms are responsible for that. Cyclin B/CDK1 and APC activity, as well as the mitotic spindle assembly process could all be assessed to further evaluate the nature of the observed  $G_2/M$  arrest. Also, it might be important to distinguish if the cells arrest at the  $G_2/M$  transition or during Mitosis. Nevertheless, p27 does also inhibit the Cyclin

B/CDK1 complexes which regulate the transition stage. The inability to detect the  $p27^{T198}$  in Rh-30 cells, and the other important CDK inhibitor p21 in both RMS cell lines, leave gaps in our understanding of the mechanism responsible for the cell cycle effects of electrical stimulation.

Electrical stimulation of RMS cells causes the activation of Akt signalling. While the activity of this kinase is believed to prevent cell death and contribute to cell cycle progression, it may also serve a different role in myogenic and Rh-30 cells by promoting differentiation. Pharmacological inhibition of Akt may further decrease the number of cells remaining following electrical stimulation. The full consequences of Akt inhibition in Rh-30 cells, as well as in the RD line, are yet to be determined. It is important to further establish that by combining stimulation and pharmacological inhibition of Akt activation. Furthermore, recent evidence points to the contributions of calcium signalling to Akt activity and apoptosis in aRMS cells (145). Chelation of calcium out of electrically stimulated myoblasts attenuated cells cycle arrest (93). Together, these observations put forward a notion that calcium signalling could act as the mediator of the responses RMS cells exhibit following electrical stimulation. However, further research is required to establish the possibility of such connection. At this stage it is not clear what mechanisms contribute to the activation of the Akt pathway. Often this kinase is activated downstream of the growth factor mediated receptors, yet this is not the case in electrically stimulated RMS cells.

GSK3 $\beta$  activity is important to the manifestation of the tumorigenic state in PAX/FOXO positive cells. As we demonstrate Akt mediated inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  in Rh-30 cells helps alleviate the suppression of myogenin transcriptional activity. Changes in E box driven promoter reported activity was used to help assess myogenic differentiation status. Yet, these experiments could be revisited to offer a more comprehensive outlook on the myogenic changes occurring in

70

these cells. While after 2 days of electrical stimulation E box driven luciferase expression was statistically increased, the full length MCK promoter activity did not show any changes. To expand our understanding measurements of myogenic gene expression in electrically stimulated aRMS cells at additional time points including day 0 and day 4 should be conducted. Moreover, the enhanced activation of the E box but not the full length MCK promoter driven reporter gene expression implicates the participation of other transcriptional regulators that impose the differentiation block in aRMS. Finally, E box activation is not exclusively targeted by myogenin, it is also mediated by other MRFs such as MyoD. MyoD mediated transcriptional activity was not addressed in this project, yet taking into account the significant increase in the protein levels of this factor in electrically stimulated Rh-30 cells, it could serve as a potential topic for further research. Moreover, recently GSK3 was also shown to support the oncogenic state in eRMS cells, yet it is unclear how electrically stimulated RD cells respond to changes in this kinase. It is possible the myogenic program in eRMS cells is influenced similarly to Rh-30 cells in terms of GSK3 effects towards myogenic differentiation. Thus, it could provide an exciting opportunity to expand our understanding of the myogenic state in eRMS cells as well.

## Appendix A

Glycogen synthase kinase 3ß represses MYOGENIN function in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma

MG Dionyssiou<sup>1</sup>, S Ehyai<sup>1</sup>, E Avrutin<sup>2</sup>, MK Connor<sup>2</sup> and JC McDermott<sup>\*,1,3,4,5</sup>

Cell Death and Disease (2014) 5, e1094; published online 27 February 2014

From the <sup>1</sup>Department of Biology, <sup>2</sup>Department of Kinesiology, <sup>3</sup>Centre for Research in Mass Spectrometry, <sup>4</sup>Muscle Health Research Centre, and <sup>5</sup>Centre for Research in Biomolecular Interactions York University, Toronto, ON, M3J 1P3, Canada

\*Corresponding author: JC McDermott

www.nature.com/cddis

# Glycogen synthase kinase $3\beta$ represses MYOGENIN function in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma

MG Dionyssiou<sup>1</sup>, S Ehyai<sup>1</sup>, E Avrutin<sup>2</sup>, MK Connor<sup>2</sup> and JC McDermott<sup>\*,1,3,4,5</sup>

MYOGENIN is a member of the muscle regulatory factor family that orchestrates an obligatory step in myogenesis, the terminal differentiation of skeletal muscle cells. A paradoxical feature of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma (ARMS), a prevalent soft tissue sarcoma in children arising from cells with a myogenic phenotype, is the inability of these cells to undergo terminal differentiation despite the expression of MYOGENIN. The chimeric PAX3-FOXO1 fusion protein which results from a chromosomal translocation in ARMS has been implicated in blocking cell cycle arrest, preventing myogenesis from occurring. We report here that PAX3-FOXO1 enhances glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) activity which in turn represses MYOGENIN activity. MYOGENIN is a GSK3 $\beta$  substrate in vitro on the basis of in vitro kinase assays and MYOGENIN is phosphorylated in ARMS-derived RH30 cells. Constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) increased the level of a phosphorylated form of MYOGENIN on the basis of western blot analysis and this effect was reversed by neutralization of the single consensus GSK3 $\beta$  phosphoacceptor site by mutation (S160/164A). Congruently, GSK3 $\beta$  inhibited the *trans*-activation of an E-box reporter gene by wild-type MYOGENIN, but not MYOGENIN with the S160/164A mutations. Functionally, GSK3 $\beta$  repressed muscle creatine kinase (MCK) promoter activity, an effect which was reversed by the S160/164A mutated MYOGENIN. Importantly, GSK3β inhibition or exogenous expression of the S160/164A mutated MYOGENIN in ARMS reduced the anchorage independent growth of RH30 cells in colony-formation assays. Thus, sustained GSK3 $\beta$  activity represses a critical regulatory step in the myogenic cascade, contributing to the undifferentiated, proliferative phenotype in alveolar rhabdomvosarcoma (ARMS).

*Cell Death and Disease* (2014) **5**, e1094; doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.58; published online 27 February 2014 **Subject Category:** Cancer

Rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) is the most common pediatric soft tissue sarcoma, accounting for 5% of all childhood cancers and approximately 50% of soft tissue sarcomas.<sup>1-3</sup> There are two main subtypes: embryonal and alveolar RMS and although embryonal RMS is more common, alveolar RMS is considered to carry a worse prognosis. A gene fusion resulting in the t(2;13)(q35;q14) somatic cell chromosomal translocation fuses PAX3 and Foxo1 to create a potent transcription factor (PAX3-FOXO1) which is a predominant causative genetic lesion for the development of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma (ARMS).<sup>1</sup> ARMS is a highly malignant mesenchymal tumor that has properties of immature striated muscle tissue resulting in dense aggregates of poorly differentiated cells that are separated by fibrous membranes resulting in a loss in cellular cohesion.<sup>2,3</sup> PAX3 is a key determinant of somatic myogenesis and, is involved in the migration of progenitor cells to the dermomyotome region of the somite where they grow and divide in the presence of growth factors.<sup>4</sup> PAX3 is also required to activate the myogenic determination gene, MYOD.5 MYOD is one of four

myogenic regulatory factors (MRFs, which include MYF-5, MRF4 and MYOGENIN) from the basic helix-loop-helix superfamily of transcription factors which interact with myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2) proteins in the hierarchical control of muscle-specific gene expression.<sup>6</sup> Two kinases that potently exert effects on this myogenic regulatory cascade are p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK $3\beta$ ). p38 MAPK is a key regulator of skeletal myogenesis that critically interacts with and activates MEF2 in the somite myotome during development.<sup>7-9</sup> Conversely, GSK3 $\beta$  activation leads to a repression in skeletal and cardiac muscle differentiation, in part by antagonizing p38 MAPK-mediated activation of MEF2.<sup>10,11</sup> GSK3β usually targets proteins that have already been phosphorylated by another kinase at a 'priming' serine or threonine residue located four amino acids C-terminal to a consensus (S/T)XXX(S/T)-PO<sub>4</sub> motif.<sup>12,13</sup> Regulation of MEF2 and the MRFs leads to morphological changes including epithelial to mesenchymal transition, cell alignment and fusion to form multinucleated myotubes that eventually develop into

**Abbreviations:** GFP, green fluorescent protein; GSK3 $\beta$ , glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$ ; Luc, luciferase; MAPK, mitogen activated protein kinase; MCK, muscle creatine kinase; MEF2, myocyte enhancer factor-2; PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase; PKB, protein kinase B

Received 05.11.13; revised 20.1.14; accepted 21.1.14; Edited by A Stephanou

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Biology, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada; <sup>2</sup>Department of Kinesiology, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada; <sup>3</sup>Centre for Research in Mass Spectrometry, York University, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada; <sup>4</sup>Muscle Health Research Centre, York University, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada and <sup>5</sup>Centre for Research in Biomolecular Interactions, York University, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada \*Corresponding author: JC McDermott, Department of Biology, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario M3J 1P3, Canada. Tel: +1 416 736 2100; Fax: +1 416 736 2100; E-mail: jmcderm@yorku.ca

Keywords: alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma; PAX3-FOXO1; MYOGENIN; GSK3β; cell proliferation; tumorigenicity

а Cell Type **RH30** C2C12 Condition GM DM DM GM Time (days) 1 4 2 4 Δ ± PAX3-FOXO1 97kDa PAX3-FOXO1 55kDa PAX3 MYF5 32kDa 38kDa MYOD MEF2A 62kDa MYOGENIN 30kDa 43kDa ACTIN b PAX3-FOXO1 control CMV-dsRed2 -GFP MOK cell type: C2C12 RH30 RD С GSK3ß pS9-GSK3β Actin d Pax3-foxo1 HA-P3F (100kDa) GSK3ß (56kDa) pS9-GSK3ß (56kDa) Actin (43kDa)

functional, contractile muscle fibers. In particular, cells that express MYOD and MYOGENIN are typically fusion competent<sup>14,15</sup> with the exception of ARMS cell types. To date, lack of myogenic differentiation of PAX3-FOXO1 expressing ARMS cells has been attributed to their inability to upregulate p57Kip2 activity, hence destabilizing the DNA binding affinity of MYOD transcription complexes.<sup>16</sup> Dysfunctional MYOD/Eprotein complex association and transcriptional control is a common feature between ARMS and the non-PAX3-FOXO1 expressing embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma (ERMS). Subsequent restoration of the MYOD/E12 complex has been shown to switch ERMS cells from an arrested myofibroblast phase to a more differentiated state.<sup>17</sup> Similarly p38 MAPK activity can potentiate myogenic differentiation in ERMS cells by enhancing MYOD trans-activation properties.<sup>18</sup> Therefore, it is fairly clear that in both rhabdomyosarcoma subtypes the ability of MYOD to potentiate transcription is compromised. However, the role of MYOGENIN in RMS is more equivocal. For normal myogenesis to occur, both in vitro and in vivo, an absolute requirement for MYOGENIN is evident. Thus, MYOGENIN activity constitutes a pivot point for irreversible commitment to terminal differentiation.<sup>19,20</sup> The combination of data from gene targeting studies of the MRFs<sup>21,22</sup> supports the prevailing consensus that while the other three MRFs can compensate each other's functional roles.<sup>23-26</sup> MYOGENIN is absolutely essential for skeletal muscle fiber formation.<sup>20</sup> Despite its expression in RMS, the paradox as to why MYOGENIN cannot mediate competence for differentiation is unknown.

Here, we examined the posttranslational regulation of MYOGENIN in ARMS. On the basis of the *in silico* prediction of a single consensus phosphorylation site for GSK3 $\beta$  on the MYOGENIN protein and also high levels of GSK3 $\beta$  activity in these cells, we determined that MYOGENIN function is potently repressed by GSK3 $\beta$  activity in ARMS. Moreover, pharmacological inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  results in a profound decrease in size and, to a certain extent, number of RMS colonies in a colony-formation assay. This effect is mimicked by introduction of MYOGENIN bearing neutralizing mutations in the GSK3 $\beta$  consensus site. In combination, these data reveal MYOGENIN as a key target of GSK3 $\beta$  activity in

Figure 1 MYOGENIN protein expression and GSK3<sup>β</sup> activity are both maintained in ARMS: (a) C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with HA-PAX3-FOXO1 or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid for 1 day before extraction or serum withdrawal and then extraction at 1 day increments for up to 4 days as indicated. Protein levels were compared with protein extracts from PAX3-FOXO1 expressing RH30 cells 1 day in growth media (GM) and 4 days in differentiation media (DM). The results show that despite the expression of PAX3-FOXO1. RH30 cells also express MYOGENIN. On the other hand, HA-PAX3-FOXO1 overexpression in C2C12 inhibits MYOGENIN expression and subsequent myogenic differentiation. (b) C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with CMV-dsRed2, MCK-eGFP and, either HA-PAX3-FOXO1 or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid. HA-PAX3-FOXO1 overexpression repressed the formation of multinucleated myotubes. (c) Endogenous GSK3ß protein levels and phosphorylation at serine 9 were compared in C2C12 myoblasts, RH30 and ERMS RD cells. Although GSK3 $\beta$  is expressed in all three cell types, it is predominantly phosphorylated and hence inactive in C2C12 myoblasts and RD cells but not PAX3-FOXO1 expressing RH30 cells. (d) C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with HA-PAX3-FOXO1 or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid for 1 day before extraction. Overexpression of HA-PAX3-FOXO1 resulted in decreased phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  at serine 9 indicating its activation

ARMS, indicating that pharmacologic manipulation of this signaling axis may provide an opportunity for therapeutic intervention.

#### Results

**MYOGENIN** is expressed in PAX3-FOX01 expressing **RH30 cells.** Serum (10% FBS) contains growth factors that repress the transcriptional activity of MRFs and also stimulate cell cycle progression hence rendering C2C12 myoblasts proliferative. In tissue culture, serum withdrawal (2% HS) results in activation of MEF2 and MRFs causing cell alignment and fusion to form multinucleated myotubes. Initially, in order to investigate the effect of PAX3-FOX01 on this differentiation program, proliferating C2C12 myoblasts were transiently transfected with CMV-dsRed2, MCK-eGFP, and either HA-PAX3-FOX01 or pcDNA3.1 control vector. Growth media (GM) was replaced with differentiation media (DM) 19 h after transfection and cells were allowed to differentiate for 96 h. SDS-PAGE samples were prepared from populations of myoblasts that either expressed or did not express PAX3-FOXO1, (a) before serum withdrawal (time = 0: GM = 10% FBS) and (b) at 24 h increments upon serum withdrawal (days 1-4: DM = 2% HS). Protein expression levels of these samples were then compared with protein samples from PAX3-FOXO1 expressing RH30 cells in GM and DM, by western blotting. These data indicate that despite the expression of PAX3-FOXO1, MYOGENIN protein expression is maintained in human ARMS-derived RH30 cells (Figure 1a). In addition, PAX3-FOXO1 repressed myotube formation in C2C12 myoblasts (Figures 1a and b). Detection of myogenic differentiation using an MCK promoter driving GFP expression<sup>27</sup> revealed GFP expressing, multinucleated myotubes in the controls but not in cells expressing PAX3-FOXO1 (Figure 1b).

It is well documented that MRFs and MEF2 proteins are highly sensitive to pro-myogenic kinases such as p38 MAPK<sup>9,28-30</sup> and also kinases such as GSK3 $\beta$  which are



**Figure 2** Overexpressed, constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$  (S9A) represses MYOGENIN *trans*-activation of E-box. (a) C2C12 myoblasts were transfected with 4x E-box Luc reporter and different combinations of HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) and MYOGENIN or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid as indicated. Overexpressed HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) repressed MYOGENIN transcriptional activity (P < 0.001). (b) GSK3 $\beta$  directly phosphorylates MYOGENIN *in vitro*: Purified GST-MYOGENIN was incubated *in vitro* with GST-GSK3 $\beta$  and ( $\gamma^{-32}$ P) ATP. GST and MBP proteins were used as negative and positive control respectively as indicated. Bands were resolved using SDS-PAGE and visualized by Coomassie Blue staining. Gels were dried and exposed to X-ray film for 21 h after the assay. (c) Calf-intestinal phosphatase (CIP) treatment of immunoprecipitated MYOGENIN that was obtained from 1000  $\mu$ g of RH30 protein extract. The data shows that CIP treatment causes a loss of a high-molecular weight, phosphorylated form of MYOGENIN. #ns, \*\*\*P < 0.001

repressive to myogenesis.<sup>10,31</sup> Therefore we tested for GSK3 $\beta$  activity under conditions when myogenesis is supressed. As GSK3 $\beta$  is constitutively active until it is repressed by phosphorylation at serine 9 (by PKB), we assessed both total GSK3 $\beta$  protein expression levels and S9 phosphorylation levels using appropriate antibodies as indicated. We document that GSK3 $\beta$  is expressed in proliferative C2C12 myoblasts, PAX3-FOXO1 expressing ARMS cells (RH30) and, non-PAX3-FOXO1 ERMS cells (RD). However only in PAX3-FOXO1 expressing RH30 cells, is GSK3 $\beta$  predominantly in its unphosphorylated form (at serine 9) and, hence fully active state (Figure 1c). In addition, ectopic expression of PAX3-FOXO1 resulted in reduced phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  at serine 9 in C2C12 myoblasts (Figure 1d).

**MYOGENIN** *trans*-activation function is repressed by **GSK3** $\beta$ . To assess the effect of GSK3 $\beta$  activity on MYO-GENIN function, *trans*-activation of a 4x E-box Luciferase construct was measured in proliferating C2C12 myoblasts that were transfected with different combinations of constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) and MYOGENIN as indicated in Figure 2a. The data indicate that MYOGENIN potentiates the 4x E-box Luc reporter gene and that GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) abrogates this effect (*P*<0.001) indicating repression of MYOGENIN by active GSK3 $\beta$  (Figure 2a, left panel) without affecting the MYOGENIN protein expression levels (Figure 2a, right panel).

**GSK3** $\beta$  directly phosphorylates MYOGENIN *in vitro*. In order to determine whether MYOGENIN is a substrate for GSK3 $\beta$ , an *in vitro* kinase assay was performed using GST-MYOGENIN (1–225), purified GST-GSK3 $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P ATP. Bands were resolved using SDS-PAGE and subsequent autoradiography showed <sup>32</sup>P labeled bands for MYOGENIN, autophosphorylated GSK3 $\beta$  and MyBP (positive control, Figure 2b). In addition, Coomassie Blue staining revealed a lower mobility band indicative of phosphorylation (Figure 2b). To further test the idea that the lower mobility band is hyperphosphorylated, we used calf-intestinal phosphatases on RH30 cell lysates and found that the low mobility band was eradicated (Figure 2c). Collectively these data suggest that MYOGENIN is a GSK3 $\beta$  substrate *in vitro*.

Pharmacologic manipulation of GSK3 $\beta$  activity alters **MYOGENIN** properties. To further investigate the effect of GSK3<sup>β</sup> on MYOGENIN, COS7 cells were co-transfected with MYOGENIN and GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) and, then treated with or without 10  $\mu$ M GSK3 $\beta$  inhibitor, AR-A014418, as indicated in Figures 3a and b. Western blot analysis revealed two predominant forms of MYOGENIN, a low mobility hyperphosphorylated isoform and a high mobility, hypophosphorylated isoform (Figure 3a, lane 2). The lower mobility, hyperphosphorylated band is reduced upon pharmacological treatment with AR-A014418 as indicated (Figure 3a, lane 3). This corresponded with a significant increase in transactivation of an E-box cis element driven reporter gene (P<0.001, Figure 3b). In contrast, constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) without pharmacological inhibition resulted in an increase in the low mobility, hyperphosphorylated band (Figure 3a, lane 4) which corresponded to a decrease in E-box luciferase activity in reporter gene assays (P<0.05, Figure 3b).

Mutation of a consensus GSK3 $\beta$  phosphoacceptor site on MYOGENIN (S160/164A) prevents GSK3 $\beta$ -mediated repression. By *in silico* analysis, MYOGENIN contains a highly conserved putative GSK3 $\beta$  consensus phosphoacceptor site (Table 1), which we targeted by neutralizing site-directed mutagenesis. We observed that although wild-type MYOGENIN is sensitive to the repressive effects of constitutively active GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A), MYOGENIN



**Figure 3** GSK3 $\beta$  increases MYOGENIN protein, possibly through phosphorylation and this corresponds with decreased transcriptional activity. (a) Cos7 cells were transiently transfected with or without MYOGENIN and/or GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) and then treated for 19 h with either 10  $\mu$ M GSK3 $\beta$  inhibitor or DMSO 24 h after transfection as indicated. Protein samples were extracted and western blot analysis revealed an increase in a slower migrating, hyperphosphorylated MYOGENIN band (lane 4) in the presence of overexpressed HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A), which was reduced in the presence of GSK3 $\beta$  inhibitor (lane 3). (b) E-box Luc reporter gene was co-transfected in Cos7 cells using the same conditions that were described above. Overexpressed MYOGENIN significantly enhanced transcriptional activity of the E-box promoter (\*\*\*P<0.001) and, this effect was further increased in the presence of GSK3 $\beta$  (S9A) repressed MYOGENIN transcriptional activity (\*\*P<0.05)

 Table 1
 GSK3 $\beta$  consensus sequence within Myogenin

Myogenin sequence:	Species:
158 VP <b>S</b> ECS <b>S</b> HSA <b>S</b> CSP 171	Human
158 VP <b>S</b> ECN <b>S</b> HSA <b>S</b> CSP 171	Mouse
158 VP <b>S</b> ECN <b>S</b> HSA <b>S</b> CSP 171	Rat

**GSK3**β **represses MYOGENIN** function in ARMS MG Dionyssiou *et al* 



**Figure 4** MYOGENIN neutralizing phosphomutant (S160/164A) is resistant to GSK3 $\beta$  repression of transcription activity as well as an increased slower migrating, hyperphosphorylated MYOGENIN band. (a) 4x E-box Luc activity was assessed in C2C12 myoblasts that were transfected with either wild-type MYOGENIN or MYOGENIN (S160/164A) and, co-transfected with HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid as indicated. HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) repressed MYOGENIN *trans*-activation of the 4x E-box promoter region (P < 0.001) but had no effect on mutated MYOGENIN (S160/164A) transcriptional activity. (b) Western blot analysis of the same samples revealed a decrease in a slower migrating, hyperphosphorylated band for overexpressed MYOGENIN (S160/164A, lane 2) with respect to overexpressed wild-type MYOGENIN (lane 1). Co-transfected HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) caused an increase in the slow migrating, hyperphosphorylated MYOGENIN band (lane 3) but not with overexpressed mutated MYOGENIN (S160/164A, lane 4). (c) Independent analysis of E-box Luc activity in C2C12 myoblasts with different combinations of overexpressed MYOGENIN, mutated MYOGENIN (S160/164A), HA-GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) or pcDNA3.1 control plasmid as indicated. \*\*\*P < 0.001, \*\*P < 0.05, \*fns

(S160/164A) was not (Figure 4a). Western blot analysis revealed that MYOGENIN (S160/164A) mutations correspond with a decrease in the low mobility, hyperphosphorylated upper band (Figure 4b, lane 2) and that this effect was not altered by ectopically expressed HA-GSK3B(S9A). Together these data indicate that S160/164A mutations in MYOGENIN render it insensitive to the repressive effect of GSK3 $\beta$ . GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) expression resulted in an increase in the low mobility, hyperphosphorylated form of wild-type MYOGENIN (Figure 4b, lane 3) and this corresponded with decreased E-box luciferase activity (P<0.001, Figure 4a). Although trans-activation of the skeletal muscle gene E-box cis-element by mutated MYO-GENIN (S160/164A) is marginally less potent than wild-type MYOGENIN (P<0.05, Figure 4c); it is resistant to inhibition by activated GSK3 $\beta$  (*P*<0.001, Figure 4c).

PAX3-FOXO1 activation of GSK3<sup>β</sup> antagonizes muscle creatine kinase promoter activation. To further examine the functional significance of our findings, we used MCK promoter activity, as a key indicator of the activation of myogenic differentiation, in C2C12 myoblasts that were transfected with or without the PAX3-FOXO1 oncogene (Figure 5a). These data depict that PAX3-FOXO1 represses MCK promoter activation in myoblasts that have been co-transfected with MYOGENIN (P<0.01) and this effect is not only abrogated by pharmacological inhibition of GSK3*β*, but further activated (P<0.001, Figure 5a). Interestingly, in PAX3-FOXO1 expressing, human ARMS-derived RH30 cells, ectopically expressed MYOGENIN had no effect on MCK promoter activity unless it was coupled with pharmacological inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  using AR-A014418 (P<0.001, Figure 5b). Conversely, mutated MYOGENIN (S160/164A)



Figure 5 Pharmacological inhibition of GSK3 rescues PAX3-FOXO1 repression of MYOGENIN's transcriptional activation of MCK promoter in both C2C12 myoblasts and RH30 human ARMS cells. (a) MCK-Luc promoter activity was assessed in C2C12 myoblasts that were transfected with different combinations of MYOGENIN, PAX3-FOXO1 and pcDNA3.1 control plasmid as indicated and then treated with either 10  $\mu$ M AR-A014418 or DMSO solvent. MYOGENIN enhanced MCK-Luc activity as expected (P<0.001) and this effect was repressed by co-expression of PAX3-FOXO1 (P<0.01). Pharmacological inhibition of GSK3<sup>β</sup> not only reversed the effect of PAX3-FOXO1 but resulted in a super-activation (P < 0.001). (b) To assess the importance of these findings in human-derived ARMS, RH30 cells were transfected with either MYOGENIN or mutated MYOGENIN(S160/164A) and MCK-Luc promoter activity was assessed. The data shows that wild-type MYOGENIN could not trans-activate the MCK promoter region unless it was coupled with pharmacological inhibition of GSK3ß (P<0.001). This was in contrast to mutated MYOGENIN (S160/164A), which could potentiate MCK promoter activity (P < 0.001) regardless of GSK3 $\beta$  inhibition. (c) Summary of our findings: GSK3ß activity in ARMS represses the activation of muscle-specific genes by repressing the transcriptional activity of MYOGENIN. #ns, \*P<0.01, \*\*P<0.001

was able to potentiate MCK promoter activity regardless of GSK3 $\beta$  inhibition (P<0.05, Figure 5b). Taken together, these data provide evidence that S160/164 on MYOGENIN are likely key targets of GSK3 $\beta$  signaling in alveolar rhabdo-myosarcoma resulting in a diminution of the critical E-box dependent gene activation that is necessary and sufficient for differentiation.

Manipulation of GSK3 $\beta$  and MYOGENIN activity reduces tumorigenic properties of ARMS-derived RH30 cells. Colony-formation assays were performed as previously described using RH30 cells<sup>32</sup> which can grow in an

anchorage independent manner. Equal numbers of RH30 cells that have been transiently transfected with or without MYOGENIN containing the S160/164A mutations were seeded in growth media with or without 10 µM AR-A014418 (GSK3 $\beta$  inhibitor) and allowed to form colonies for 21 days (Figure 6). The addition of  $10 \,\mu$ M AR-A014418 significantly impaired the ability of RH30 cells to form colonies (P < 0.05) and remarkably reduced the size of the colonies (P < 0.0001). A similar reduction in colonv numbers and size were also evident in RH30 cells that were transfected with MYOGENIN (S160/164A) mutations (Figures 6a and b). In addition, we confirmed that pharmacological inhibition of GSK3<sup>β</sup> significantly reduced cell proliferation of PAX3-FOXO1 expressing cells (Figure 6c). Collectively these findings strongly indicate that GSK3ß activity promotes the tumorigenicity of RH30 cells and that this effect is neutralized by expression of MYOGENIN bearing mutations that render it insensitive to GSK3 $\beta$ .

Electrical stimulation of ARMS-derived RH30 cells reduces GSK3<sup>β</sup> activity through Akt (PKB). Electrical stimulation of skeletal muscle cells in cell culture has been shown to induce phenotype alterations and differentiation.<sup>33</sup> Given that rhabdomyosarcoma shares properties of the skeletal muscle lineage, we electrically stimulated cultured RH30 cells for 4 h/day (5 Hz) for up to 4 days with the idea that it might promote differentiation by affecting the Akt/GSK3<sup>β</sup> signaling pathway.<sup>34</sup> Stimulation of these cells resulted in an increase in pAktT308 to levels that were  $3.00 \pm 0.72$ -fold higher than those in non-stimulated cells after 4 days of stimulation (Figures 7a and b). Concomitantly,  $\text{pGSK}\beta\text{S9}$  was also increased  $2.25\pm0.37$  fold following 4 days of stimulation (Figures 7a and c). These increases in pAktT308 and pGSK $\beta$ S9 were not a result of increases in total protein (Figure 7a) as indicated by the  $3.76 \pm 1.32$  and 2.05 ± 0.55 increases in relative phosphorylation, respectively (Figures 7d and e). These changes in kinase activity corresponded with increased E-box promoter activity in stimulated cells compared with controls (Figure 7f). Collectively, these data indicate that electrical stimulation suppresses GSK3<sup>β</sup> activity and correspondingly activates MRF activity supporting our previous findings and also highlighting the possibility of using electrical stimulation as a therapeutic intervention in ARMS patients.

#### Discussion

ARMS, unlike ERMS, has a well-characterized cytogenetic basis in the majority of patients resulting from chromosomal translocations between chromosomes 1 and 13 and also 2 and 13 that result in fusion of the DNA binding domains of either Pax7 or PAX3 with the *trans*-activation domain of the Forkhead (FKHR) transcription factor family member Foxo1.<sup>1,2,35</sup> In view of the well-substantiated crucial role of PAX3 and 7 in the development of skeletal muscle<sup>4,5</sup> it is therefore not surprising that the signature of ARMS tumor cells is a muscle-like phenotype and the expression of a variety of structural muscle marker genes such as myosin heavy chain and desmin.<sup>36</sup> What is surprising is the sustained expression of MYOD and MYOGENIN in ARMS,<sup>37,38</sup>



**Figure 6** Soft agarose colony formation and MTT cell proliferation assays: (a) Equal numbers of RH30 cells were seeded under different conditions as depicted, and allowed to form colonies for 21 days. On the 22nd day the colonies were stained with 0.005% Crystal Violet overnight. Colonies were counted at different planes (n = 10) in four independent experiments done in triplicate. The total number of colonies was reduced by (i) 10  $\mu$ M AR-A014418, P < 0.05 (ii) Transient transfection of MYOGENIN containing the S160/164A neutralizing mutations, P < 0.01 and (iii) both, P < 0.001. Also see Supplementary Figure 1 for visual representation of the data. (b) We searched for the three largest colonies in each of the 12 plates for each condition and calculated the area using ImageJ software. The data revealed that the control colonies could grow up to 9 × bigger than any of the experimental conditions, P < 0.001. (c) MTT cell proliferation assays were performed in PAX3/FOX01A-expressing cells with and without 10  $\mu$ M AR-A014418 treatment. The experiment revealed that GSK3 $\beta$  inhibition reduces cell proliferation by ~2-fold, P < 0.001. #ns, \*P < 0.05, \*\*P < 0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001

which are transcription factors that are intimately associated with the terminally differentiated, non- proliferative phenotype of normal myogenic cells, begging the question as to why they cannot exert this effect in ARMS. In particular, the function of MYOGENIN in the myogenic regulatory hierarchy places it at a pivotal and required step in the terminal commitment of myogenic progenitors to the differentiation program.<sup>19,20,34</sup> Thus, our observations reported here, that MYOGENIN function in ARMS is repressed by inappropriate sustained signaling by the kinase GSK3 $\beta$ , may be of considerable



**Figure 7** In vitro electrical stimulation of RH30 cells. (a) Western blot analysis revealed that electrical stimulation increased PKB/Akt activity and that this corresponded with increased phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  at S9. Relative increase of phosphorylation at: (b) Akt at T308 and (c) GSK3 $\beta$  at S9, over time. Graphical representation of phosphorylate to total amounts of: (d) Akt and (e) GSK3 $\beta$ . (f) E-box promoter activity decreased with electrical stimulation and this also corresponded with inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$  at S9. \*P<0.01, \*\*P<0.001

significance for understanding the etiology of this disease. Moreover, as repression of kinase activity is, in many cases, a tractable pharmacologic approach, we now propose targeting GSK3 $\beta$  activity as a tangible therapeutic strategy for ARMS.

In support of the above, a recent study showed that ARMSassociated PAX3/7-Foxo1 fusion proteins inhibit MYOD target genes.<sup>39</sup> It was also reported that forced MYOD/Eprotein dimer expression could not rescue PAX3/7-Foxo1 repression of myogenic factors.<sup>39</sup> Here, we also report that ectopically expressed PAX3-FOXO1 represses the induction of muscle genes, even when MRFs are expressed. We propose that the posttranslational repression of MYOGENIN activity is due to sustained GSK3 $\beta$  activity and, through a cross-talk mechanism, subsequent repression of p38 MAPK (Supplementary Figure 1) as we have previously described.<sup>10</sup> p38 MAPK and PKB/Akt are both required for activation of MEF2/MYOD transcriptional control and chromatin remodeling events at crucial myogenic loci for the differentiation program.<sup>11,40</sup>

In other systems, GSK3 $\beta$  phosphorylation of its protein substrates results in subsequent targeting for proteasomal degradation.<sup>12,13</sup> However, GSK3 $\beta$  does not appear to affect MYOGENIN protein stability in our experiments as we observe an increase in a slow migrating, hyperphosphorylated form of MYOGENIN in response to GSK3 $\beta$  signaling that is not reduced in terms of its level of expression suggesting that proteasomal degradation of MYOGENIN is not enhanced by GSK3 $\beta$ . Conversely, neutralizing mutations of the GSK3 $\beta$ consensus enhanced MYOGENIN trans-activation of the muscle creatine kinase promoter, and also reduced the tumorigenic properties of ARMS cells (RH30) in a colony-formation assay. These findings suggest that GSK3<sub>β</sub>-mediated inhibition of MYOGENIN trans-activation properties impairs MYOGENIN's ability to promote terminal differentiation in tumorigenic RH30 cells.

Cell cycle control is an essential component of normal growth control and development which goes awry in tumorigenesis. To date several growth-promoting PAX3-FOXO1 target genes have been implicated in RMS such as the IGF-R and c-Met although, while their contribution to proliferation is likely, the extent of their precise involvement in ARMS is still not clear.<sup>41</sup> During normal skeletal myogenesis, upregulation of a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, p21, stalls myoblasts in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle thus priming them for differentiation by promoting cell cycle exit, which is a requirement for subsequent muscle-specific gene expression.<sup>42</sup> Consistent with the idea that GSK3 $\beta$  activation may contribute to the oncogenic properties resulting from PAX3-FOXO1 expression in ARMS, we observed that the number of proliferative RH30 cells is approximately halved by pharmacological inhibition of GSK3 $\beta$ . So far, the exact mechanism by which GSK3ß regulates cell proliferation in ARMS is unknown. However, GSK3<sup>β</sup> has recently been shown to activate KLF643 and we recently identified that KLF6 enhances cell proliferation in myogenic cells through a TGF $\beta$ /Smad3 dependent pathway.<sup>44</sup> We therefore speculate that PAX3-FOXO1/GSK3<sup>β</sup> enhancement of cell proliferation may involve KLF6 as a downstream effector as it is also highly expressed in various RMS cell types.

In summary, MYOGENIN normally activates genes that regulate cell fusion and terminal differentiation of skeletal muscle. In PAX3-FOXO1 expressing ARMS cells, our data indicate that sustained GSK3 $\beta$  activity represses MYOGENIN function, contributing to the transformed, proliferative phenotype of these cells. On the basis of this evidence, we propose that pharmacologic targeting of GSK3 $\beta$  kinase activity may constitute a tractable therapeutic strategy for ARMS.

#### Materials and Methods

Plasmids. E-box, MYOGENIN and MCK reporter constructs in pGL3 and expression vectors for MYOGENIN in EMSV were used in reporter gene assays. HA-tagged PAX3-FOXO1 was cloned into pcDNA3.1 and kindly donated by Dr. Malkin at MaRS, Toronto. HA-tagged GSK3 $\beta$ (S9A) was cloned in pcDNA3 ORF 995–2305.

**Antibodies.** Anti-MYOGENIN and anti-HA mouse monoclonal antibodies as well as anti-MEF2A rabbit polyclonal antibody were produced with the assistance of the York University Animal Care Facility; anti-PAX3 (1:250; Cell Signaling, Whitby, ON, Canada) GSK3 $\beta$ , phospho-GSK3 $\beta$  (1:1000; Cell Signaling); actin, MYOD, Myf-5, GFP, dsRed2 (1:2000; SantaCruz, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) were used for immunoblotting experiments.

**Cell culture and transfection.** C2C12, Cos7 and RH30 cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (HyClone, Burlington, ON, Canada), 1% L-glutamine and 1% penicillin-streptomycin. Cells were maintained in a humidified, 37 °C incubator with a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. For transfections, cells were seeded 1 day before transfection and transfected according to the standard calcium phosphate method previously described. A mixture of 50  $\mu$ l 2.5 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> per 25  $\mu$ g DNA with an equal volume of 2x HeBS (2.8 M NaCl, 15 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM HEPES, pH = 7.15) was used and the cells were incubated overnight followed by washing and addition of fresh media. The cells were counted and transferred to pre-gelatin-coated plates.

**Protein extractions, immunoblotting and reporter gene assays.** Cells were collected using an NP-40 lysis buffer (0.5% NP-40, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate, 1 mM EDTA (pH 8.0), 0.1 M NaF) containing 10 µg/ml leupetin and aprotinin, 5 µg/ml pepstatin A, 0.2 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and 0.5 mM sodium orthovanadate. Protein concentrations were determined using the Bradford method (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada) with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard. An amount 20 µg of total protein extracts were used for immunoblotting, diluted in sample buffer containing 5% β-mercaptoethanol and boiled.

Transcriptional assays were done using luciferase reporter plasmids. The cells were collected for these assays using 20 mM Tris, (pH 7.4) and 0.1% Triton-X 100 and the values obtained were normalized to  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity expressed from a constitutive SV40 driven expression vector and represented as relative light units (RLU) or in some cases corrected Luciferase values for control, reporter alone transfections were arbitrarily set to 1.0, and fold activation values were calculated. Bars represent the mean (n = 3) and error bars represent the standard error of the mean (n = 3). Independent two sample *t*-tests of all quantitative data were conducted using R software. *P*-values are indicated with respect to controls where appropriate.

*In vitro* kinase assay. A total of  $3 \mu g$  of purified recombinant GST-MYOGENIN was mixed with either 0.5  $\mu g$  purified recombinant GST-GSK3 $\beta$  (1–433; Cell Signaling) and with ( $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P) ATP and incubated for 30 min at 30 °C. Samples were denatured for 5 min at 95 °C in SDS sample buffer. Protein samples were then separated by 10% SDS-PAGE and exposed on X-ray film (Kodak X-Omat, Toronto, ON, Canada) for 21 h to detect <sup>32</sup>P incorporation. The lanes containing GST-MYOGENIN are elongated because two lanes were pooled to fit a higher total reaction volume to accommodate for the low concentration of purified GST-MYOGENIN (0.06  $\mu g/\mu l$ ). All lanes contain equal total amounts of proteins (3  $\mu g$ ).

**Electrical stimulation.** Cells were plated onto 0.1% gelatin-coated 6-well plates. The lids of the plates were fitted with two parallel platinum wire electrodes, placed at the opposite ends of each well and extending into the media. The wires from all wells were arranged in parallel and connected to an electrical stimulator (Harvard Apparatus Canada, Saint-Laurent, Quebec, Canada). Cells were stimulated at 5 V and a frequency of 5 Hz for 4 hours/day and allowed a subsequent 20 h recovery period. Cells were collected following the recovery period throughout the 4 days of the protocol.

**Soft agarose colony-formation assay.** Materials: 0.7% (w/v) DNA grade Agarose, 1% (w/v) DNA grade Agar, 0.005% Crystal Violet (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada), 2X Media + 20% (v/v) FBS. After 48 h of transfection with MYOGENIN containing the S160/164A mutations or empty vector, RH30 cells were assayed for their capacity to form colonies as previously described.<sup>45</sup> A total of 1 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells were suspended on a layer of 0.35% agarose in DMEM (10% FBS) with or without 10  $\mu$ M AR-A014418, in 6-well plates. Medium was refreshed every 3–5 days as needed and on the 22nd day, the amount of colonies were

counted using a contrast phase microscope. The relative colony sizes were calculated using ImageJ software (Scion Corporation, Frederick, MD, USA). Four independent experiments were carried out in triplicate.

#### Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements. We thank Dr. D Malkin from The Research Institute at The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, for providing the HA-PAX3-FOXO1 plasmids as well as the RH30 and RD cells. This work was supported by funding provided by Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) and Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

- Galili N, Davis RJ, Fredericks S, Mukhopadhyay FJ, Rauscher BS III, Rovera EG *et al.* Fusion of a forkhead domain gene to PAX3 in the solid tumor alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. *Nat Genet* 1993; 5: 230–235.
- Barr FG. The role of chimeric paired box domain transcription factors in the pathogenesis of pediatric rhabdomyosarcoma. *Cancer Res* 1999; 59(7 suppl): 1711s–1715s.
- 3. Paulino AC, Okcu MF. Rhabdomyosarcoma. Curr Probl Cancer 2008; 32: 7-34.
- Buckingham M, Relaix F. The role of pax genes in the development of tissues and organs: PAX3 and Pax7 regulate muscle progenitor cell functions. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 2007; 23: 645–673.
- Buckingham M. Skeletal muscle progenitor cells and the role of Pax genes. C R Biol 2007; 330: 530–533.
- Currie PD, Bryson-Richardson RJ. The genetics of vertebrate myogenesis. Nat Rev 2008; 9: 632–646.
- Han J, Molkentin J. Regulation of MEF2 by p38 MAPK and its implication in cardiomyocyte biology. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 2000; 10: 19–22.
- Muñoz JP, Collao A, Chiong M, Maldonado C, Adasme T, Carrasco L et al. The transcription factor MEF2C mediates cardiomyocyte hypertrophy induced by IGF-1 signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2009; **388**: 155–160.
- de Angelis L, Zhao J, Andreucci JJ, Olson EN, Cossu G, McDermott JC. Regulation of vertebrate myotome development by the p38 MAP kinase-MEF2 signaling pathway. *Dev Biol* 2005; 283: 171–179.
- Dionyssiou MG, Nowacki NB, Hashemi S, Zhao J, Kerr A, Tsushima RG *et al.* Cross-talk between glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3β) and p38MAPK regulates myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) activity in skeletal and cardiac muscle. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2013; 54: 35–44.
- Rampalli S, Li L, Mak E, Ge K, Brand M, Tapscott SJ et al. p38 MAPK signaling regulates recruitment of Ash2L-containing methyltransferase complexes to specific genes during differentiation. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2007; 14: 1150–1156.
- 12. Cohen P, Frame S. The renaissance of GSK3. Nat Rev 2001; 2: 769-776.
- Doble BW, Woodgett JR. GSK-3: tricks of the trade for a multi-tasking kinase. J Cell Sci 2003; 116: 1175–1186.
- Sabourin LA, Rudnicki MA. The molecular regulation of myogenesis. Clin Genet 2000; 57: 16–25.
- Grossi A, Yadav K, Lawson MA. Mechanical stimulation increases proliferation, differentiation and protein expression in culture: Stimulation effects are substrate dependent. J Biomech 2007: 40: 3354–3362.
- Roeb W, Boyer A, Cavenee WK, Arden KC. PAX3-FOXO1 controls expression of p57Kip2 cell-cycle regulator through degredation of EGR1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2007; 104: 18085–18090.
- Yang Z, MacQuarrie KL, Analau E, Tyler AE, Dilworth FJ, Cao Y et al. MYOD and E-protein heterodimers switch rhabdomyosarcoma cells from an arrested myoblast phase to a differentiated state. *Genes Dev* 2009; 23: 694–707.
- Puri PL, Wu Z, Zhang P, Wood LD, Bhakta KS, Han J et al. Induction of terminal differentiation by constitutive activation of p38 MAP kinase in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Genes Dev 2000; 14: 574–584.
- Hasty P, Bradley A, Morris JH, Edmondson DG, Venuti JM, Olson EN *et al.* Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the MYOGENIN gene. *Nature* 1993; 364: 501–506.
- Rawls A, Morris JH, Rudnicki M, Braun T, Arnold HH, Klein WH *et al.* MYOGENIN's functions do not overlap with those of MYOD or Myf-5 during mouse embryogenesis. *Dev Biol* 1995; **172**: 37–50.
- Megeney LA, Rudnicki MA. Determination versus differentiation and the MYOD family of transcription factors. *Biochem Cell Biol* 1995; 73: 723–732.
- Weintraub AJ. The MYOD family and myogenesis: redundancy, networks and thresholds. *Cell* 1993; 75: 1241–1244.

- Rudnicki MA, Braun T, Hinuma S, Jaenisch R. Inactivation of MYOD in mice leads to up-regulation of the myogenic HLH gene Myf-5 and results in apparently normal muscle development. *Cell* 1992; 71: 383–390.
- Kassar-Duchossoy L, Gayraud-Morel B, Gomes D, Rocancourt D, Buckingham M, Shinin V et al. Mrf4 determines skeletal muscle identity in MYF5:MYOD double mutant mice. Nature 2004; 431: 466–471.
- Kaul A, Koster M, Neuhaus H, Braun T. Myf-5 revisited: loss of early myotome formation does not lead to rib phenotype in homozygous Myf-5 mutant mice. *Cell* 2000; **102**: 17–19.
- Rawls A, Valdez MR, Zhang W, Richardson J, Klein WH, Olson EN. Overlapping functions of the myogenic bHLH genes MRF4 and MYOD revealed in double mutant mice. *Development* 1998; 125: 2349–2358.
- Kollias HD, Perry RLS, Miyake T, Aziz A, McDermott JC. Smad7 promotes and enhances skeletal muscle differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* 2006; 26: 6248–6260.
- Ornatsky OI, Cox DM, Tangirala P, Andreucci JJ, Quinn ZA, Wrana JL et al. Post-translational control of the MEF2A transcriptional regulatory protein. Nucleic Acids Res 1999; 27: 2646–2654.
- Lluis F, Perdiguero E, Nebreda AR, Munoz-Canoves P. Regulation of skeletal muscle gene expression by p38 MAP kinases. *Trends Cell Biol* 2006; 16: 36–44.
- Keren A, Bergal E, Frank D. p38 MAP kinase regulates the expression of XMYF5 and affects distinct myogenic programs during Xenopus development. *Dev Biol* 2005; 288: 73–86.
- Du M, Perry RL, Nowacki NB, Gordon JW, Salma J, Zhao J et al. Protein kinase A represses skeletal myogenesis by targeting myocyte enhancer factor 2D. Mol Cell Biol 2008; 28: 2952–2970.
- Raimondi L, Ciaarapica R, De Salvo M, Verginelli F, Gueguen M, Martini C et al. Inhibition of Notch3 signalling induces rhabdomyosarcoma cell differentiation promoting p38 phosphorylation and p21(Cip1) expression and hampers tumour cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Cell Death Differ 2012; 19: 871–881.
- Connor MK, Irrcher I, Hood DA. Contractile activity-induced transcriptional activation of cytochrome c involves Sp1 and Is proportional to mitochondrial ATP synthesis in C2C12 muscle cells. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 15898–15904.
- Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M, Hemmings BA. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated protein kinase B. *Nature* 1995; 378: 785–789.
- Davis RJ, D'Cruz CM, Lovell MA, Biegel JA, Barr FG. Fusion of PAX7 to FKHR by the variant t(1;13)(p36;q14) translocation in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. *Cancer Res* 1994; 54: 2869–2872.
- Tonin PN, Scrable H, Shimada H, Cavenee WK. Muscle-specific gene expression in rhabdomyosarcomas and stages of human fetal skeletal muscle development. *Cancer Res* 1991; 51: 5100–5106.
- Dias P, Chen B, Dilday B, Palmer H, Hosoi H, Singh S et al. Strong immunostaining for MYOGENIN in rhabdomyosarcoma is significantly associated with tumors of the alveolar subclass. Am J Pathol 2000; 156: 399–408.
- Sebire NJ, Malone M. MYOGENIN and MYOD1 expression in paediatric rhabdomyosarcomas. J Clin Pathol 2003; 56: 412–416.
- Calhabeu F, Hayashi S, Morgan JE, Relaix F, Zammit PS. Alveolar rhabdomyosarcomaassociated proteins PAX3/FOXO1A and PAX7/FOXO1A suppress the transcriptional activity of MYOD-target genes in muscle stem cells. *Oncogene* 2013; 32: 651–662.
- Serra C, Palacios D, Mozzetta C, Forcales SV, Morantte I, Ripani M et al. Functional interdependence at the chromatin level between the MKK6/p38 and IGF1/PI3K/AKT pathways during muscle differentiation. *Mol Cell* 2007; 28: 200–213.
- Keller C, Guttridge DC. Mechanisms of impaired differentiation in rhabdomyosarcoma. FEBS J 2013; 17: 4323–4334.
- Gurung R, Parnaik VK. Cyclin D3 promotes myogenic differentiation and Pax7 transcription. J Cell Biochem 2012; 113: 209–219.
- Lang UE, Kocabayoglu P, Cheng GZ, Ghiassi-Nejad Z, Munoz U, Vetter D *et al.* GSK3β phosphorylation of the KLF6 tumor suppressor promotes its transactivation of p21. *Oncogene* 2012; 32: 4557–4564.
- Dionyssiou MG, Salma J, Bevzyuk M, Wales S, Zakharyan L, McDermott JC. Kruppel-like factor 6 (KLF6) promotes cell proliferation in skeletal muscle cells in response to TGFβ/Smad3 signaling. Skelet Muscle 2013; 3: 7.
- Ciarapica R, Annibali D, Raimondi L, Savino M, Nasi S, Rota R. Targeting Id protein interactions by an engineered HLH domain induces human neuroblastoma cell differentiation. *Oncogene* 2009; 28: 1881–1891.

Cell Death and Disease is an open-access journal published by Nature Publishing Group. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Unported License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on Cell Death and Disease website (http://www.nature.com/cddis)

## References

1. Norbury C, Nurse P. Animal cell cycles and their control. Annu Rev Biochem. 1992;61:441-70.

2. Malumbres M, Barbacid M. Mammalian cyclin-dependent kinases. Trends Biochem Sci. 2005;30(11):630-41.

3. Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes Dev. 2004;18(22):2699-711.

4. Santamaría D, Barrière C, Cerqueira A, Hunt S, Tardy C, Newton K, et al. Cdk1 is sufficient to drive the mammalian cell cycle. Nature. 2007;448(7155):811-5.

5. Morgan DO. Principles of CDK regulation. Nature. 1995;374(6518):131-4.

6. Malumbres M, Barbacid M. To cycle or not to cycle: A critical decision in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2001;1(3):222-31.

7. Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. CDK inhibitors: Positive and negative regulators of G 1-phase progression. Genes Dev. 1999;13(12):1501-12.

8. Dyson N. The regulation of E2F by pRB-family proteins. Genes and Development. 1998;12(15):2245-62.

9. Sage J, Mulligan GJ, Attardi LD, Miller A, Chen S, Williams B, et al. Targeted disruption of the three rb-related genes leads to loss of G1 control and immortalization. Genes Dev. 2000;14(23):3037-50.

10. Hartwell LH, Weinert TA. Checkpoints: Controls that ensure the order of cell cycle events. Science. 1989;246(4930):629-34.

11. Besson A, Dowdy SF, Roberts JM. CDK inhibitors: Cell cycle regulators and beyond. Dev Cell. 2008;14(2):159-69.

12. Connor MK, Kotchetkov R, Cariou S, Resch A, Lupetti R, Beniston RG, et al. CRM1/ranmediated nuclear export of p27Kip1 involves a nuclear export signal and links p27 export and proteolysis. Mol Biol Cell. 2003;14(1):201-13.

13. Nigg EA. Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2001;2(1):21-32.

14. Elledge SJ. Cell cycle checkpoints: Preventing an identity crisis. Science. 1996;274(5293):1664-72.

15. Kastan MB, Bartek J. Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer. Nature. 2004;432(7015):316-23.

16. Vousden KH, Lu X. Live or let die: The cell's response to p53. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(8):594-604.

17. Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell. 1997;88(3):323-31.

18. Musacchio A, Salmon ED. The spindle-assembly checkpoint in space and time. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8(5):379-93.

19. Fuchs Y, Steller H. Programmed cell death in animal development and disease. Cell. 2011;147(4):742-58.

20. Maiuri MC, Zalckvar E, Kimchi A, Kroemer G. Self-eating and self-killing: Crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2007;8(9):741-52.

21. Taylor RC, Cullen SP, Martin SJ. Apoptosis: Controlled demolition at the cellular level. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2008;9(3):231-41.

22. Broker LE, Kruyt FAE, Giaccone G. Cell death independent of caspases: A review. Clin Cancer Res. 2005;11(9):3155-62.

23. Kroemer G, Martin SJ. Caspase-independent cell death. Nat Med. 2005;11(7):725-30.

24. Elmore S. Apoptosis: A review of programmed cell death. Toxicol Pathol. 2007;35(4):495-516.

25. Hengartner MO. The biochemistry of apoptosis. Nature. 2000;407(6805):770-6.

26. Green DR, Kroemer G. The pathophysiology of mitochondrial cell death. Science. 2004;305(5684):626-9.

27. Green DR, Reed JC. Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science. 1998;281(5381):1309-12.

28. Vousden KH, Lu X. Live or let die: The cell's response to p53. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(8):594-604.

29. Datta SR, Dudek H, Xu T, Masters S, Haian F, Gotoh Y, et al. Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell- intrinsic death machinery. CELL. 1997;91(2):231-41.

30. Datta SR, Brunet A, Greenberg ME. Cellular survival: A play in three akts. Genes Dev. 1999;13(22):2905-27.

31. Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell. 2008;132(1):27-42.

32. Levine B, Yuan J. Autophagy in cell death: An innocent convict? J Clin Invest. 2005;115(10):2679-88.

33. Kroemer G, Mariño G, Levine B. Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell. 2010;40(2):280-93.

34. Kabeya Y, Mizushima N, Ueno T, Yamamoto A, Kirisako T, Noda T, et al. LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. EMBO J. 2000;19(21):5720-8.

35. Pownall ME, Gustafsson MK, Emerson Jr. CP. Myogenic regulatory factors and the specification of muscle progenitors in vertebrate embryos. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2002;18:747-83.

36. Buckingham M, Bajard L, Chang T, Daubas P, Hadchouel J, Meilhac S, et al. The formation of skeletal muscle: From somite to limb. J Anat. 2003;202(1):59-68.

37. Parker MH, Seale P, Rudnicki MA. Looking back to the embryo: Defining transcriptional networks in adult myogenesis. Nat Rev Gen. 2003;4(7):497-507.

38. Bryson-Richardson RJ, Currie PD. The genetics of vertebrate myogenesis. Nat Rev Gen. 2008;9(8):632-46.

39. Davis RL, Weintraub H, Lassar AB. Expression of a single transfected cDNA converts fibroblasts to myoblasts. Cell. 1987;51(6):987-1000.

40. Braun T, Buschhausen-Denker G, Bober E, Tannich E, Arnold HH. A novel human muscle factor related to but distinct from MyoD1 induces myogenic conversion in 10T1/2 fibroblasts. EMBO J. 1989;8(3):701-9.

41. Rudnicki MA, Schnegelsberg PNJ, Stead RH, Braun T, Arnold - HH, Jaenisch R. MyoD or myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. Cell. 1993;75(7):1351-9.

42. Kablar B, Krastel K, Ying C, Asakura A, Tapscott SJ, Rudnicki MA. MyoD and myf-5 differentially regulate the development of limb versus trunk skeletal muscle. Development. 1997;124(23):4729-38.

43. Hasty P, Bradley A, Morris JH, Edmondson DG, Venuti JM, Olson EN, et al. Muscle deficiency and neonatal death in mice with a targeted mutation in the myogenin gene. Nature. 1993;364(6437):501-6.

44. Sabourin LA, Rudnicki MA. The molecular regulation of myogenesis. Clin Genet. 2000;57(1):16-25.

45. Puri PL, Sartorelli V. Regulation of muscle regulatory factors by DNA-binding, interacting proteins, and post-transcriptional modifications. J Cell Physiol. 2000;185(2):155-73.

46. Black BL, Olson EN. Transcriptional control of muscle development by myocyte enhancer factor-2 (MEF2) proteins. Ann Rev Cell Dev Biol. 1998;14:167-96.

47. Maroto M, Reshef R, Münsterberg AE, Koester S, Goulding M, Lassar AB. Ectopic pax-3 activates MyoD and myf-5 expression in embryonic mesoderm and neural tissue. Cell. 1997;89(1):139-48.

48. Relaix F, Rocancourt D, Mansouri A, Buckingham M. A Pax3/Pax7-dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells. Nature. 2005;435(7044):948-53.

49. Epstein JA, Lam P, Jepeal L, Maas RL, Shapiro DN. Pax3 inhibits myogenic differentiation of cultured myoblast cells. J Biol Chem. 1995;270(20):11719-22.

50. Chargé SBP, Rudnicki MA. Cellular and molecular regulation of muscle regeneration. Physiol Rev. 2004;84(1):209-38.

51. Megeney LA, Kablar B, Garrett K, Anderson JE, Rudnicki MA. MyoD is required for myogenic stem cell function in adult skeletal muscle. Genes Dev. 1996;10(10):1173-83.

52. Seale P, Sabourin LA, Girgis-Gabardo A, Mansouri A, Gruss P, Rudnicki MA. Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. Cell. 2000;102(6):777-86.

53. Walsh K, Perlman H. Cell cycle exit upon myogenic differentiation. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 1997;7(5):597-602.

54. Kitzmann M, Carnac G, Vandromme M, Primig M, Lamb NJC, Fernandez A. The muscle regulatory factors MyoD and myf-5 undergo distinct cell cycle-specific expression in muscle cells. J Cell Biol. 1998;142(6):1447-59.

55. Montarras D, Lindon C, Pinset C, Domeyne P. Cultured myf5 null and myoD null muscle precursor cells display distinct growth defects. Biol Cell. 2000;92(8-9):565-72.

56. Sorrentino V, Pepperkok R, Davis RL, Ansorge W, Philipson L. Cell proliferation inhibited by MyoD1 independently of myogenic differentiation. Nature. 1990;345(6278):813-5.

57. Keller C, Guttridge DC. Mechanisms of impaired differentiation in rhabdomyosarcoma. FEBS J. 2013;280(17):4323-34.

58. Wang J, Helin K, Jin P, Nadal-Ginard B. Inhibition of in vitro myogenic differentiation by cellular transcription factor E2F1. Cell Growth Differ. 1995;6(10):1299-306.

59. Novitch BG, Mulligan GJ, Jacks T, Lassar AB. Skeletal muscle cells lacking the retinoblastoma protein display defects in muscle gene expression and accumulate in S and G2 phases of the cell cycle. J Cell Biol. 1996;135(2):441-56.

60. Martelli F, Cenciarelli C, Santarelli G, Polikar B, Felsani A, Caruso M. MyoD induces retinoblastoma gene expression during myogenic differentiation. Oncogene. 1994;9(12):3579-90.

61. Halevy O, Novitch BG, Spicer DB, Skapek SX, Rhee J, Hannon GJ, et al. Correlation of terminal cell cycle arrest of skeletal muscle with induction of p21 by MyoD. Science. 1995;267(5200):1018-21.

62. Zhang P, Wong C, Dou L, Finegold M, Harper JW, Elledge SJ. p21(CIP1) and p57(KIP2) control muscle differentiation at the myogenin step. Genes Dev. 1999;13(2):213-24.

63. Zabludoff SD, Csete M, Wagner R, Yu X, Wold BJ. p27(Kip1) is expressed transiently in developing myotomes and enhances myogenesis. Cell Growth Differ. 1998;9(1):1-11.

64. Gu W, Schneider JW, Condorelli G, Kaushal S, Mahdavi V, Nadal-Ginard B. Interaction of myogenic factors and the retinoblastoma protein mediates muscle cell commitment and differentiation. Cell. 1993;72(3):309-24.

65. Zhang J-, Wei Q, Zhao X, Paterson BM. Coupling of the cell cycle and myogenesis through the cyclin D1-dependent interaction of MyoD with cdk4. EMBO J. 1999;18(4):926-33.

66. Zhang J-, Zhao X, Wei Q, Paterson BM. Direct inhibition of G1 cdk kinase activity by MyoD promotes myoblast cell cycle withdrawal and terminal differentiation. EMBO J. 1999;18(24):6983-93.

67. Kitzmann M, Vandromme M, Schaeffer V, Carnac G, Labbé J-, Lamb N, et al. Cdk1- and cdk2-mediated phosphorylation of MyoD Ser200 in growing C2 myoblasts: Role in modulating MyoD half-life and myogenic activity. Mol Cell Biol. 1999;19(4):3167-76.

68. Reynaud EG, Leibovitch MP, Tintignac LAJ, Pelpel K, Guillier M, Leibovitch SA. Stabilization of MyoD by direct binding to p57(Kip2). J Biol Chem. 2000;275(25):18767-76.

69. Wu Z, Woodring PJ, Bhakta KS, Tamura K, Wen F, Feramisco JR, et al. p38 and extracellular signal-regulated kinases regulate the myogenic program at multiple steps. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(11):3951-64.

70. Coolican SA, Samuel DS, Ewton DZ, McWade FJ, Florini JR. The mitogenic and myogenic actions of insulin-like growth factors utilize distinct signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. 1997;272(10):6653-62.

71. Meloche S, Pouysségur J. The ERK1/2 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway as a master regulator of the G1- to S-phase transition. Oncogene. 2007;26(22):3227-39.

72. Perry RLS, Parker MH, Rudnicki MA. Activated MEK1 binds the nuclear MyoD transcriptional complex to repress transactivation. Mol Cell. 2001;8(2):291-301.

73. Li L, Chambard J-, Karin M, Olson EN. Fos and jun repress transcriptional activation by myogenin and MyoD: The amino terminus of jun can mediate repression. Genes Dev. 1992;6(4):676-89.

74. Miner JH, Wold BJ. C-myc inhibition of MyoD and myogenin-initiated myogenic differentiation. Mol Cell Biol. 1991;11(5):2842-51.

75. Chakravarthy MV, Abraha TW, Schwartz RJ, Fiorotto ML, Booth FW. Insulin-like growth factor-I extends in vitro replicative life span of skeletal muscle satellite cells by enhancing G1/S cell cycle progression via the activation of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/akt signaling pathway. J Biol Chem. 2000;275(46):35942-52.

76. Liang J, Zubovitz J, Petrocelli T, Kotchetkov R, Connor MK, Han K, et al. PKB/akt phosphorylates p27, impairs nuclear import of p27 and opposes p27-mediated G1 arrest. Nat Med. 2002;8(10):1153-60.

77. Machida S, Spangenburg EE, Booth FW. Forkhead transcription factor FoxO1 transduces insulin-like growth factor's signal to p27Kip1 in primary skeletal muscle satellite cells. J Cell Physiol. 2003;196(3):523-31.

78. Schmidt M, De Mattos SF, Van der Horst A, Klompmaker R, Kops GJPL, Lam EW-, et al. Cell cycle inhibition by FoxO forkhead transcription factors involves downregulation of cyclin D. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(22):7842-52.

79. Diehl JA, Cheng M, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Glycogen synthase kinase- $3\beta$  regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. Genes Dev. 1998;12(22):3499-511.

80. Fingar DC, Richardson CJ, Tee AR, Cheatham L, Tsou C, Blenis J. mTOR controls cell cycle progression through its cell growth effectors S6K1 and 4E-BP1/eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E. Mol Cell Biol. 2004;24(1):200-16.

81. Li Y, Jiang B-, Ensign Jr. WY, Vogt PK, Han J. Myogenic differentiation requires signalling through both phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and p38 MAP kinase. Cell Signal. 2000;12(11-12):751-7.

82. Perdiguero E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gresh L, Hui L, Ballestar E, Sousa-Victor P, et al. Genetic analysis of p38 MAP kinases in myogenesis: Fundamental role of p38 $\alpha$  in abrogating myoblast proliferation. EMBO J. 2007;26(5):1245-56.

83. Rommel C, Clarke BA, Zimmermann S, Nuñez L, Rossman R, Reid K, et al. Differentiation stage-specific inhibition of the raf-MEK-ERK pathway by akt. Science. 1999;286(5445):1738-41.

84. Bennett AM, Tonks NK. Regulation of distinct stages of skeletal muscle differentiation by mitogen-activated protein kinases. Science. 1997;278(5341):1288-91.

85. Van Der Velden JLJ, Langen RCJ, Kelders MCJM, Wouters EFM, Janssen-Heininger YMW, Schols AMWJ. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3β activity is sufficient to stimulate myogenic differentiation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2006;290(2):C453-62.

86. Fujio Y, Guo K, Mano T, Mitsuuchi Y, Testa JR, Walsh K. Cell cycle withdrawal promotes myogenic induction of akt, a positive modulator of myocyte survival. Mol Cell Biol. 1999;19(7):5073-82.

87. Porter Jr. GA, Makuck RF, Rivkees SA. Reduction in intracellular calcium levels inhibits myoblast differentiation. J Biol Chem. 2002;277(32):28942-7.

88. Delling U, Tureckova J, Lim HW, De Windt LJ, Rotwein P, Molkentin JD. A calcineurin-NFATc3-dependent pathway regulates skeletal muscle differentiation and slow myosin heavy-chain expression. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(17):6600-11.

89. Van Der Velden JLJ, Schols AMWJ, Willems J, Kelders MCJM, Langen RCJ. Glycogen synthase kinase 3ß suppresses myogenic differentiation through negative regulation of NFATc3. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(1):358-66.

90. McKinsey TA, Zhang CL, Olson EN. MEF2: A calcium-dependent regulator of cell division, differentiation and death. Trends Biochem Sci. 2002;27(1):40-7.

91. Ljubicic V, Adhihetty PJ, Hood DA. Application of animal models: Chronic electrical stimulation-induced contractile activity. Can J Appl Physiol. 2005;30(5):625-43.

92. Connor MK, Irrcher I, Hood DA. Contractile activity-induced transcriptional activation of cytochrome c involves Sp1 and is proportional to mitochondrial ATP synthesis in C2C12 muscle cells. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(19):15898-904.

93. Duchene B. Electrical stimulation induces AMPK-mediated cell cycle arrest in C2C12 myoblasts [dissertation].; 2010.

94. Hardie DG. AMP-activated protein kinase-an energy sensor that regulates all aspects of cell function. Genes Dev. 2011;25(18):1895-908.

95. Liang J, Shao SH, Xu Z-, Hennessy B, Ding Z, Larrea M, et al. The energy sensing LKB1-AMPK pathway regulates p27kip1 phosphorylation mediating the decision to enter autophagy or apoptosis. Nature Cell Biol. 2007;9(2):218-24.

96. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000;100(1):57-70.

97. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature. 1998;396(6712):643-9.

98. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. Cell. 2011;144(5):646-74.

99. Sherr CJ. Cancer cell cycles. Science. 1996;274(5293):1672-4.

100. Weinberg RA. The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell. 1995;81(3):323-30.

101. Massagué J. G1 cell-cycle control and cancer. Nature. 2004;432(7015):298-306.

102. Parham DM, Ellison DA. Rhabdomyosarcomas in adults and children: An update. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2006;130(10):1454-65.

103. Arndt CAS, Crist WM. Common musculoskeletal tumors of childhood and adolescence. New Engl J Med. 1999;341(5):342.

104. Xia SJ, Pressey JG, Barr FG. Molecular pathogenesis of rhabdomyosarcoma. Cancer Biol Ther. 2002;1(2):97-104.

105. Merlino G, Helman LJ. Rhabdomyosarcoma - working out the pathways. Oncogene. 1999;18(38):5340-8.

106. Williamson D, Missiaglia E, De Reyniès A, Pierron G, Thuille B, Palenzuela G, et al. Fusion gene-negative alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma is clinically and molecularly indistinguishable from embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28(13):2151-8.

107. Shern JF, Chen L, Chmielecki J, Wei JS, Patidar R, Rosenberg M, et al. Comprehensive genomic analysis of rhabdomyosarcoma reveals a landscape of alterations affecting a common genetic axis in fusion-positive and fusion-negative tumors. Cancer Discov. 2014;4(2):216-31.

108. Skapek SX, Anderson J, Barr FG, Bridge JA, Gastier-Foster JM, Parham DM, et al. PAX-FOXO1 fusion status drives unfavorable outcome for children with rhabdomyosarcoma: A children's oncology group report. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(9):1411-7.

109. Scrable HJ, Witte DP, Lampkin BC, Cavenee WK. Chromosomal localization of the human rhabdomyosarcoma locus by mitotic recombination mapping. Nature. 1987;329(6140):645-7.

110. Anderson J, Gordon A, Pritchard-Jones K, Shipley J. Genes, chromosomes, and rhabdomyosarcoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 1999;26(4):275-85.

111. Diller L, Sexsmith E, Gottlieb A, Li FP, Malkin D. Germline p53 mutations are frequently detected in young children with rhabdomyosarcoma. J Clin Invest. 1995;95(4):1606-11.

112. Tapscott SJ, Thayer MJ, Weintraub H. Deficiency in rhabdomyosarcomas of a factor required for MyoD activity and myogenesis. Science. 1993;259(5100):1450-3.

113. Yang Z, MacQuarrie KL, Analau E, Tyler AE, Dilworth FJ, Cao Y, et al. MyoD and E-protein heterodimers switch rhabdomyosarcoma cells from an arrested myoblast phase to a differentiated state. Genes Dev. 2009;23(6):694-707.

114. Zhang M, Truscott J, Davie J. Loss of MEF2D expression inhibits differentiation and contributes to oncogenesis in rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Mol Cancer. 2013;12(1).

115. Calhabeu F, Hayashi S, Morgan JE, Relaix F, Zammit PS. Alveolar rhabdomyosarcomaassociated proteins PAX3/FOX01A and PAX7/FOX01A suppress the transcriptional activity of MyoD-target genes in muscle stem cells. Oncogene. 2013;32(5):651-62.

116. Fredericks WJ, Galili N, Mukhopadhyay S, Rovera G, Bennicelli J, Barr FG, et al. The PAX3-FKHR fusion protein created by the t(2;13) translocation in alveolar rhabdomyosarcomas is a more potent transcriptional activator than PAX3. Mol Cell Biol. 1995;15(3):1522-35.

117. Barr FG, Nauta LE, Davis RJ, Schäfer BW, Nycum LM, Biegel JA. In vivo amplification of the PAX3-FKHR and PAX7-FKHR fusion genes in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Hum Mol Genet. 1996;5(1):15-21.

118. Keller C, Hansen MS, Coffin CM, Capecchi MR. Pax3:Fkhr interferes with embryonic Pax3 and Pax7 function: Implications for alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cell of origin. Genes Dev. 2004;18(21):2608-13.

119. Scheidler S, Fredericks WJ, Rauscher III FJ, Barr FG, Vogt PK. The hybrid PAX3-FKHR fusion protein of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma transforms fibroblasts in culture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(18):9805-9.

120. Anderson J, Ramsay A, Gould S, Pritchard-Jones K. PAX3-FKHR induces morphological change and enhances cellular proliferation and invasion in rhabdomyosarcoma. Am J Pathol. 2001;159(3):1089-96.

121. Kikuchi K, Tsuchiya K, Otabe O, Gotoh T, Tamura S, Katsumi Y, et al. Effects of PAX3-FKHR on malignant phenotypes in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;365(3):568-74.

122. Bernasconi M, Remppis A, Fredericks WJ, Rauscher III FJ, Schäfer BW. Induction of apoptosis in rhabdomyosarcoma cells through down-regulation of PAX proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93(23):13164-9.

123. Hettmer S, Wagers AJ. Muscling in: Uncovering the origins of rhabdomyosarcoma. Nat Med. 2010;16(2):171-3.

124. Hinson ARP, Jones R, S. Crose LE, Belyea BC, Barr FG, Linardic CM. Human rhabdomyosarcoma cell lines for rhabdomyosarcoma research: Utility and pitfalls. Front Oncol. 2013;3 JUL.

125. Lagutina I, Conway SJ, Sublett J, Grosveld GC. Pax3-FKHR knock-in mice show developmental aberrations but do not develop tumors. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(20):7204-16.

126. Keller C, Arenkiel BR, Coffin CM, El-Bardeesy N, DePinho RA, Capecchi MR. Alveolar rhabdomyosarcomas in conditional Pax3:Fkhr mice: Cooperativity of Ink4a/ARF and Trp53 loss of function. Genes Dev. 2004;18(21):2614-26.

127. Ren Y-, Finckenstein FG, Abdueva DA, Shahbazian V, Chung B, Weinberg KI, et al. Mouse mesenchymal stem cells expressing PAX-FKHR form alveolar rhabdomyosarcomas by cooperating with secondary mutations. Cancer Res. 2008;68(16):6587-97.

128. Sharp R, Recio JA, Jhappan C, Otsuka T, Liu S, Yu Y, et al. Synergism between INK4a/ARF inactivation and aberrant HGF/SF signaling in rhabdomyosarcomagenesis. Nat Med. 2002;8(11):1276-80.

129. Rubin BP, Nishijo K, Chen H-H, Yi X, Schuetze DP, Pal R, et al. Evidence for an unanticipated relationship between undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma and embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Cancer Cell. 2011;19(2):177-91.

130. Fleischmann A, Jochum W, Eferl R, Witowsky J, Wagner EF. Rhabdomyosarcoma development in mice lacking Trp53 and fos: Tumor suppression by the fos protooncogene. Cancer Cell. 2003;4(6):477-82.

131. Langenau DM, Keefe MD, Storer NY, Guyon JR, Kutok JL, Le X, et al. Effects of RAS on the genesis of embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Genes Dev. 2007;21(11):1382-95.

132. Helman LJ, Meltzer P. Mechanisms of sarcoma development. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003;3(9):685-94.

133. Chen X, Stewart E, Shelat A, Qu C, Bahrami A, Hatley M, et al. Targeting oxidative stress in embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Cancer Cell. 2013;24(6):710-24.

134. Taylor VI JG, Cheuk AT, Tsang PS, Chung J-, Song YK, Desai K, et al. Identification of FGFR4-activating mutations in human rhabdomyosarcomas that promote metastasis in xenotransplanted models. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(11):3395-407.

135. Blandford MC, Barr FG, Lynch JC, Randall RL, Qualman SJ, Keller C. Rhabdomyosarcomas utilize developmental, myogenic growth factors for disease advantage: A report from the children's oncology group. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2006;46(3):329-38.

136. Hatley M, Tang W, Garcia M, Finkelstein D, Millay D, Liu N, et al. A mouse model of rhabdomyosarcoma originating from the adipocyte lineage. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(4):536-46.

137. Zibat A, Missiaglia E, Rosenberger A, Pritchard-Jones K, Shipley J, Hahn H, et al. Activation of the hedgehog pathway confers a poor prognosis in embryonal and fusion genenegative alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Oncogene. 2010;29(48):6323-30.

138. Hosoi H, Dilling MB, Shikata T, Liu LN, Shu L, Ashmun RA, et al. Rapamycin causes poorly reversible inhibition of mTOR and induces p53- independent apoptosis in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Cancer Res. 1999;59(4):886-94.

139. Manning BD, Cantley LC. AKT/PKB signaling: Navigating downstream. Cell. 2007;129(7):1261-74.

140. Dionyssiou MG, Ehyai S, Avrutin E, Connor MK, McDermott JC. Glycogen synthase kinase 3ß represses MYOGENIN function in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Cell Death Dis. 2014;5(2).

141. Chen EY, DeRan MT, Ignatius MS, Brooke Grandinetti K, Clagg R, McCarthy KM, et al. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 inhibitors induce the canonical WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway to suppress growth and self-renewal in embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111(14):5349-54.

142. Zeng F-, Dong H, Cui J, Liu L, Chen T. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 regulates PAX3-FKHR-mediated cell proliferation in human alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;391(1):1049-55.

143. Del Peso L, González VM, Hernández R, Barr FG, Núñez G. Regulation of the forkhead transcription factor FKHR, but not the PAX3-FKHR fusion protein, by the serine/threonine kinase akt. Oncogene. 1999;18(51):7328-33.

144. Jothi M, Nishijo K, Keller C, Mal AK. AKT and PAX3-FKHR cooperation enforces myogenic differentiation blockade in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cell. Cell Cycle. 2012;11(5):895-908.

145. Jothi M, Mal M, Keller C, Mal AK. Small molecule inhibition of PAX3-FOXO1 through AKT activation suppresses malignant phenotypes of alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2013;12(12):2663-74.

146. Saab R, Bills JL, Miceli AP, Anderson CM, Khoury JD, Fry DW, et al. Pharmacologic inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 activity arrests proliferation in myoblasts and rhabdomyosarcoma-derived cells. Mol Cancer Ther. 2006;5(5):1299-308.

147. Guenther MK, Graab U, Fulda S. Synthetic lethal interaction between PI3K/akt/mTOR and ras/MEK/ERK pathway inhibition in rhabdomyosarcoma. Cancer Lett. 2013;337(2):200-9.

148. Renshaw J, Taylor KR, Bishop R, Valenti M, De Haven Brandon A, Gowan S, et al. Dual blockade of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR (AZD8055) and RAS/MEK/ERK (AZD6244) pathways synergistically inhibits rhabdomyosarcoma cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(21):5940-51.

149. Puri PL, Wu Z, Zhang P, Wood LD, Bhakta KS, Han J, et al. Induction of terminal differentiation by constitutive activation of p38 MAP kinase in human rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Genes Dev. 2000;14(5):574-84.

150. Raimondi L, Ciarapica R, De Salvo M, Verginelli F, Gueguen M, Martini C, et al. Inhibition of Notch3 signalling induces rhabdomyosarcoma cell differentiation promoting p38 phosphorylation and p21 Cip1 expression and hampers tumour cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Cell Death Differ. 2012;19(5):871-81. 151. De Salvo M, Raimondi L, Vella S, Adesso L, Ciarapica R, Verginelli F, et al. Hyperactivation of notch3 amplifies the proliferative potential of rhabdomyosarcoma cells. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(5).

152. Parham DM, Barr FG. Classification of rhabdomyosarcoma and its molecular basis. Adv Anat Pathol. 2013;20(6):387-97.

153. Wang YX, Rudnicki MA. Satellite cells, the engines of muscle repair. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012;13(2):127-33.

154. Harris AL. Hypoxia - A key regulatory factor in tumour growth. Nat Rev Cancer. 2002;2(1):38-47.

155. Kirson ED, Gurvich Z, Schneiderman R, Dekel E, Itzhaki A, Wasserman Y, et al. Disruption of cancer cell replication by alternating electric fields. Cancer Res. 2004;64(9):3288-95.

156. Kirson ED, Dbalý V, Tovaryš F, Vymazal J, Soustiel JF, Itzhaki A, et al. Alternating electric fields arrest cell proliferation in animal tumor models and human brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(24):10152-7.

157. Shtivelman E, Sussman J, Stokoe D. A role for PI 3-kinase and PKB activity in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle. Curr Biol. 2002;12(11):919-24.

158. Kandel ES, Skeen J, Majewski N, Di Cristofano A, Pandolfi PP, Feliciano CS, et al. Activation of akt/protein kinase B overcomes a G2/M cell cycle checkpoint induced by DNA damage. Mol Cell Biol. 2002;22(22):7831-41.

159. Gozuacik D, Kimchi A. Autophagy as a cell death and tumor suppressor mechanism. Oncogene. 2004;23:2891–2906.

160. Liang XH, Jackson S, Seaman M, Brown K, Kempkes B, Hibshoosh H, et al. Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. Nature. 1999;402(6762):672-6.